University of Alberta

The Proteome of Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction & The Therapeutic Role of Mesenchymal Stem Cells

by

Bader Hamad Alsaikhan

A thesis submitted to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

> Master of Science in Experimental Surgery

Department of Surgery

©Bader Hamad Alsaikhan Fall 2013 Edmonton, Alberta

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Libraries to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell such copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only. Where the thesis is converted to, or otherwise made available in digital form, the University of Alberta will advise potential users of the thesis of these terms.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis and, except as herein before provided, neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material form whatsoever without the author's prior written permission.

Dedication

To who taught me devotion to work, dedication to details, and ambition for success.

Noura N. Albelaihed

Abstract

Introduction:

Partial bladder outlet obstruction (pBOO) is a common problem in urology. It passes through several pathological phases before progressing to bladder fibrosis. Herein, we investigated the proteomic profile of the urinary bladder in the early phase after pBOO, and examined the therapeutic role of mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) in this pathology.

Methods:

Proteomic analysis of bladder tissue was performed using liquidchromatography – mass spectrometry. The effects of intravenous injection of MSCs were examined on bladder function and gene transcription of previously described factors and newly detected proteins after proteomic analysis.

Results:

pBOO induced an increase in inflammatory, hypoxic, and cellular stress markers. Treatment with MSCs improved these molecular changes and helped maintain normal bladder capacity.

Conclusion:

Pathological changes happen early after pBOO. Inflammation, hypoxia, and mechanical strain seem to be the main factors in initiating the pathological cascade. Treatment with MSCs was successful in halting the inflammatory and hypoxic changes in the early phase after pBOO.

Acknowledgements

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my supervisor, Dr. Peter D. Metcalfe, for his kind guidance throughout this project, and his endless support to my future planning and career.

I would like to sincerely thank Dr. Jie Ding for her generous help and guidance with data analysis and presentation, and Dr. Edward E. Tredget for his unlimited encouragement, care, and inspiration. My appreciation extends to Dr. Thomas A Churchill whose words, attitude, and decisions were major source of support since day one. My thanks extend to Dr. Zengshuan Ma for his help with technical details and RT-PCR, and to the rest of my colleagues and friends in the wound healing research group. A special thank you to Ms. Christina Smith for her unlimited administrative support.

I would like to sincerely thank the Institute of Biomolecular Design at the University of Alberta, and Dr. Richard Fahlman for their generous help with the proteomic analysis.

Special thanks to King Saud University for Health Sciences in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia for supporting my scholarship, and to our sources of funding:

Edmonton Civic Employees Union Stollery Children's Hospital Foundation Northern Alberta Urology Foundation Fire Fighters Burn Trust Fund

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 Overview of the Problem	1
1.2 Etiology of pBOO	2
1.2.1 Benign Prostatic Hypertrophy	3
1.2.2 Posterior Urethral Valve	6
1.2.3 Neuropathic Bladder	7
1.3 Anatomy and Physiology of Urinary Bladder	8
1.4 Pathophysiology of pBOO	9
1.5 Current Management of pBOO	10
1.5.1 Diagnosis	10
1.5.2 Surgical Relief of pBOO	11
1.5.3 Medical approaches	12
1.5.3.1 Drug Therapy	12
1.5.3.2 Clean Intermittent Catheterization	14
1.5.4 Lower Urinary Tract Reconstruction	15
1.6 Current Avenues of Research	16
1.6.1 Molecular Pathways	17
1.6.1.1 Role of Prostaglandins in pBOO	17
1.6.1.2 TGF-β	19
1.6.1.3 Nitric Oxide	20
1.6.1.4 Gap Junctions	22
1.6.1.5 Hypoxia-inducible Factor 1α	23
1.6.2 Mesenchymal Stem Cells	24
1.6.2.1 History and Background	24
1.6.2.2 Characteristics and Cell Markers	26
1.6.2.3 Role in Inflammation and Fibrosis	26
1.6.3 Bladder Tissue Engineering	29
1.7 Conclusion and Formulation of Research Question	30
1.8 References	33

2. Early Changes in Proteomic Profile of Urinary Bladder After Partial		
Bladder Outlet Obstruction	57	
2.1 Introduction	57	
2.2 Methods	58	
2.2.1 Surgical Induction of pBOO	58	
2.2.2 Measurements of Bladder Weight & Urodynamics	59	
2.2.3 Protein Extraction from Bladder Tissue	59	
2.2.4 Gel Electrophoresis and Staining	60	
2.2.5 Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry Analysis	60	
2.2.6 RT-PCR	62	
2.2.7 Statistical Analysis	62	
2.3 Results	63	
2.3.1 Animal Health	63	
2.3.2 Urodynamics & Bladder Weight	63	
2.3.3 Proteomic Analysis	63	
2.3.4 RT-PCR	64	
2.4 Discussion	65	
2.4.1 GRP78 & Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress	66	
2.4.2 RhoA/RhoA Kinase Pathway	68	
2.4.3 Small Leucine-Rich Proteoglycans	70	
2.5 Conclusion	73	
2.6 Tables	74	
2.7 Figures	76	
2.8 Endnotes	87	
2.9 References	88	
3. The Role of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Partial Bladder Outlet		
Obstruction	98	
3.1 Introduction	98	
3.2 Methods	100	
3.2.1 Surgical Induction of pBOO	100	
3.2.2 Measurements of Bladder Weight & Urodynamics	101	

3.2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cells	101
3.2.4 Detection of MSCs in Bladder Tissue	101
3.2.5 Expression of Target Genes	102
3.2.6 Statistical Analysis	102
3.3 Results	103
3.3.1 Fluorescence Microscopy Imaging	103
3.3.2 Bladder Weight & Urodynamics	103
3.3.3 RT-PCR	103
3.4 Discussion	105
3.5 Conclusion	109
3.6 Figures	110
3.7 Endnotes	122
3.8 References	123
4. Conclusion & Future Directions	129
4.1 References	132

List of Tables

- **Table 2.1**List of PCR primers sequences.
- **Table 2.2**Protein identification and quantifications results, and their fold
change from normal unobstructed bladder tissue.

List of Figures

- **Figure 2.1** Surgical induction of pBOO.
- Figure 2.2 Bladder weight changes after pBOO.
- Figure 2.3 Bladder capacity changes after pBOO.
- Figure 2.4 Leak point pressure measurements after pBOO.
- Figure 2.5 Calculated bladder wall compliance changes after pBOO
- Figure 2.6 Image of Coomassie Blue Stained Gel.
- Figure 2.7 Protein and mRNA expression of ER stress marker GRP78.
- Figure 2.8 Protein and mRNA expression of RhoA.
- Figure 2.9 Protein and mRNA expression of decorin.
- Figure 2.10 Protein and mRNA expression of lumican.
- **Figure 2.11** Summery of detected proteins and their possible interactions from literature review.
- **Figure 3.1** Fluorescence microscopy images showing GFP-expressing MSCs in bladder tissue of 14 days treatment group.
- **Figure 3.2** Bladder weight changes over the time course of the experiment in control and treatment groups.
- **Figure 3.3** Bladder capacity changes over the time course of the experiment in control and treatment groups.
- **Figure 3.4** Leak point pressure changes over the time course of the experiment in control and treatment groups.
- **Figure 3.5** Bladder compliance changes over the time course of the experiment in control and treatment groups.
- **Figure 3.6** TGF β 1 mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.
- **Figure 3.7** HIF1α mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.
- Figure 3.8 RhoA mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.
- **Figure 3.9** Marker of ER stress (GRP78) mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.
- Figure 3.10 Lumican mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.
- Figure 3.11 Decorin mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.
- Figure 3.12 Summary of mRNA expressions of some examined genes in unobstructed & after 14 days of pBOO in control and treatment groups.

List of Abbreviations

4-BPA	4-phenylbutyrate
5-AR	$5-\alpha$ reductase
BFGF	Basic fibroblast growth factor
BPH	Benign prostatic hypertrophy
CIC	Clean intermittent catheterization
CTGF	Connective tissue growth factor
DAPI	4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole
ECM	Extracellular matrix
eNOS	Endothelial nitric oxide synthase
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
ERS	Endoplasmic reticulum stress
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
GRP78	78kDa glucose-regulated protein
GTP	Guanosine triphosphate
HIF1a	Hypoxia-inducible factor 1α
HPRT	Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
iNOS	Inducible nitric oxide synthase
LAP	Latency associated peptide
LUTS	Lower urinary tract symptoms
MLC	Myosin light chain
mRNA	Messenger RNA
MSC	Mesenchymal stem cell
nNOS	neuronal nitric oxide synthase
NO	Nitric Oxide
NOS	Nitric oxide synthase
OAB	Overactive bladder
pBOO	Partial bladder outlet obstruction
PDE	Phosphodiesterase enzyme
PDGF	Platelet derived growth factor
PG	Prostaglandin
POC	Poly(1,8-octanediol-co-citrate)
PUV	Posterior urethral valve
PVR	Post void residual
Qmax	Maximum urinary flow rate
RhoA	Ras homolog member A
ROCK	RhoA kinase
RT-PCR	Real-time polymerase chain reaction
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis

SLRP	Small leucine-rich proteoglycan
SMAD	Transforming growth factor β ligand transducers
SMC	Smooth muscle cell
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
TIMP	Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinase
TNFα	Tumor necrosis factor α
TURP	Transurethral resection of the prostate
UPR	Unfolded protein response
UTI	Urinary tract infection
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor
VUR	Vesicoureteric reflux

Chapter 1

Introduction

1.1 Overview of The Problem

Partial bladder outlet obstruction (pBOO) is a common problem in urological practice. It results from a variety of causes which all have an increase in the pressure normally required for voiding, to overcome the partial blockage of the bladder outlet. It affects a spectrum of age ranges, from benign prostatic hypertrophy (BPH) in adult males, to pediatric patients. Pediatric population suffer from this problem secondary to congenital defects such as posterior urethral valve and spina bifida¹, which can lead to the unfortunate end result of renal injury².

The urinary bladder functions essentially as a compliant reservoir of urine, and a contractile organ when proper emptying is required. This seemingly simple task is well regulated in the normal circumstances with more complex mechanisms and mediators, to provide protection for the kidneys and upper tract from urinary reflux and high pressures, and to allow for emptying in an appropriate manner without resistance when needed.

Anatomical compositions of the bladder and urethra, and neuronal pathways controlling the lower urinary tract are all implicated to achieve the physiological micturition process, and maintain a healthy functioning system to meet the physiological needs of storage and proper unidirectional emptying. The process of voiding has multiple steps and interactions, exhibiting the beauty and complexity of physiological processes.

Relaxation of the urethral sphincter should occur, followed by contraction of the bladder smooth muscles, leading to an increase in the intravesical pressure and forcing urinary flow through the bladder neck³. Partial obstruction at the bladder neck interferes with the normal expected flow of urine, requiring an increase in the intravesical pressure to overcome the partial obstruction; a task achieved by stronger contractions of the detrusor smooth muscle fibers.

Initially, the bladder will tolerate the obstruction, and compensate to generate higher pressures with subsequent smooth muscle hypertrophy. However, detrusor compensation will not survive chronic and lengthy exposure to obstruction. Prolonged exposure to high pressure leads to a sequence of pathological processes, and through a complex, well regulated biochemical pathways, an end-stage, fibrotic, non-compliant bladder ensues¹. The effect of such changes is not limited to the bladder and its function, but elevated pressure ultimately affects the upper tract resulting in renal injury, and eventually, end-stage kidney disease, requiring renal replacement therapy, with the associated morbidities and implications on patients lives^{2,4,5}.

1.2 Etiology of pBOO

pBOO can result from a variety of conditions, and each etiology is somewhat unique to specific age ranges and gender. BPH is a more common problem in adult males and its incidence increases with age. Whereas posterior urethral valve is a pediatric problem, and again, affecting males only. Urethral obstruction is less commonly seen in females, and the etiology in this group is

different than what was described for males. Pelvic organs prolapse, primary bladder neck obstruction, iatrogenic obstruction from stress incontinence surgeries, as well as pelvic neoplasia compromise the lesser, rarer etiologies of bladder outlet obstruction in females. However, because they are much more encountered in the urological clinical practice, we will focus the light on BPH, posterior urethral valves (PUV), as well as neuropathic bladder outlet obstruction, and elaborate further on some of their characteristic features and presentations, as well as the pathology behind each problem.

1.2.1 Benign Prostatic Hypertrophy

BPH is a frequent problem in the aging male, and is the most common cause of pBOO⁶. Prostatic epithelial and stromal cells undergo hyperplasia as men age, and this is the main etiology of this disorder ⁷. The prostate gland is situated to surround a small, but important segment of the urethra, namely, the prostatic urethra. As the prostatic volume increases, it exerts an external pressure on this part of the urethra and hence, partially obstructing the urinary bladder outlet.

Several pathophysiological mechanisms are proposed to explain the reason behind this late-onset disturbance in growth, and it is believed that collective effects of multiple mechanisms are responsible, and are mediated by a complex molecular, signaling and cellular processes. It has been proposed that impaired apoptotic process is the main reason of cellular hyperplasia, but this finding is yet to be investigated ⁷. Other studies has suggested that the hyperplastic process is a result of an abnormally re-launched embryonic proliferative growth of dormant

stem cells within the gland, based on the observation of histologic similarity of the prostatic stroma to the embryonic developmental mesenchyme ⁸.

Hormonal changes has been also involved in the pathogenesis of BPH ⁹. Androgens play a major role in the pathology of BPH, and it has been classically thought to be the sole endocrinological factor mediating prostatic growth. However, recent observations and studies are putting less weight on single hormonal level changes, and more on imbalances of hormonal ratios. It is suggested that it is not the sole effect of androgens that induces the pathology of BPH, but the ratio of androgen to estradiol is involved in this process. As men age, testosterone to estradiol ratio declines ¹⁰, which has been induced and replicated experimentally on animals, and this manipulation was observed to facilitate and expedite the development of prostatic glandular enlargement in these animals ¹¹.

BPH is a prevalent disease, affecting up to 80% of 80-year-old men¹². Glandular and stromal prostatic hyperplasia is histologically detected in approximately 20% of men in their 40s, and up to 60% in their 60s⁹. BPH has been classically associated with the bothersome lower urinary tract symptoms (LUTS), which include a delay in the initiation of micturition, incomplete voiding, dribbling, urgency, frequency and nocturia. Furthermore, BPH has been also noted to be associated with erectile dysfunction, and chronic pelvic pain syndrome ^{5,13,14}. The severity of LUTS does not correlate with the severity of obstruction, as symptoms are perceived differently from person to person. However, with time, symptoms will progress and become a major concern to the

worried patient.

As a mean of objectively following up the progression of BPH, urodynamic studies come in handy for the urologist. One of the indicators of disease progression is the maximum urinary flow rate (Qmax), as it tends to decline with time if no intervention has been initiated. It is thought that the reduction of maximum flow rate is dependent on the degree of obstruction, but it has more meaning to it than a simple physical indicator. It gives the physician an insight about the bladder's functional status and contraction ability over time. Nevertheless, the reduction in maximum urinary flow rate is not solely due to obstruction. Several factors may contribute to diminished urinary flow rate, such as age-related detrusor changes ⁹.

Obstruction is very relevant in patients diagnosed clinically to have BPH, and estimated to be present in 80% of patients with maximum flow rate less than 15 ml/s. ¹⁵. Prolonged obstruction will lead to an increase in the post void urinary residual, which on the long run will result in an increase in the intravesical pressure, affecting the upper tract and causing renal failure. After such changes, relieving the obstruction might not regain normal detrusor function, as a prolonged obstruction may render the harm to the detrusor to become irreversible.

Urinary stasis in the bladder exposes the patient to multiple urinary tract infections and bladder stones formation, which places even more burden on the stressed detrusor.

1.2.2 Posterior Urethral Valves

PUV is a common cause of bladder outlet obstruction in male infants. The incidence is estimated to be around 1:5000 to 1:8000 live male births, and may also result in neonatal demise ¹⁶. Antenatal detection of PUV is currently feasible, and usually require prompt intervention¹⁷. PUV continues to pose a significant morbidity and mortality upon male infants and children, and counts as a cause for ongoing renal damage ¹⁸. pBOO in children is commonly due to PUV, however, other etiologies, such as myelomeningocele and spinal cord dysraphism, are also seen.

PUV consists of a thin membrane in the posterior urethra that acts as an obstructing barrier to normal urinary flow. This membrane is thought to be formed at 4 weeks of gestation, when Wolffian duct fuses with the developing cloaca ¹⁹. The results of urinary obstruction does not affect only the developing bladder and kidneys, but severe oligohydraminos may ensue as a result of reduced urinary output, deforming the soft tissue of the growing fetus, and interfering with lungs development causing pulmonary hypoplasia, with its subsequent deleterious consequences ²⁰.

Antenatal interventions are currently being performed in selected cases. Vesico-amniotic shunt is an option, but carries risks of several complications, and renders unsatisfactory outcomes overall ¹⁹. Despite early and more invasive interventions, prognosis is still poor and progression to end-stage kidney disease is still prominent ²¹. Finding a therapeutic approach to the pathology of pBOO, will definitely improve the survival of these young patients by avoiding the

serious and life threatening complications of prolonged exposure to renal replacement therapy.

1.2.3 Neuropathic Bladder

Unlike the previously mentioned examples of pBOO where there is an abnormal physical barrier to urinary flow, abnormal neuronal innervation to the urinary bladder and urethra may result in pBOO as well. In congenital and acquired situations where spinal cord is affected, abnormal innervation to the urinary bladder and sphincter can produce an obstructive picture to the lower urinary tract. Spinal cord dysraphism, spinal cord trauma, and tumors can all produce functional obstruction. Spinal cord dysraphism, which can present in an occult fashion, is the most commonly seen form of neurogenic bladders in pediatric urology. It results from a congenital defect, which results in a tethered cord to the meninges. The incidence is in decline currently with the advertisement for folate supplements which aid in normal spinal development. Antenatal detection has also helped reduce its incidence with the option of therapeutic abortion.

Spinal injury can also result form myelitis, arteriovenous malformations, peripheral vascular diseases, and multiple sclerosis ²². Aberrant innervation to the urinary sphincter can result in tonic spasms in face of bladder contractions (detrusor sphincter dyssenergia). In this case where the sphincter contracts abnormally with the contraction of the bladder, high pressures are induced. As with all the causes of pBOO, obstruction in neuropathic bladder can result in all

the complications mentioned, i.e. vesicoureteric reflux (VUR), urinary tract infections (UTIs), bladder stones, renal injury, and progression to end-stage bladder fibrosis.

1.3 Anatomy and physiology

Normally, the urinary bladder is able to store urine at low pressure, due to the unique bladder wall structure. Internally, the bladder is lined with transitional epithelium resting on a thin basement membrane. Deeper to the basement membrane lies a fibroelastic connective tissue layer, i.e lamina propria, which aids in bladder wall compliance due to its considerable elasticity ²³. This layer contains numerous blood vessels and a fine layer of smooth muscles, the muscularis mucosa. Smooth muscles of the bladder wall are arranged in three interlaced layers, inner longitudinal, middle circular, and outer longitudinal fibers.

The anatomical constitution of the bladder is of much value to aid in its two main functions; continent low-pressure storage of urine, and efficient emptying. To achieve proper storage, bladder should accommodate a satisfactory volume without a significant raise in the intravesical pressure. The elasticity and components of the bladder wall and matrix aid this function. The bladder is equipped with several layers of transitional epithelium, which are designed to accommodate distention²⁴, in addition to the unique smooth muscle orientation, which allows for a smooth filling without significant resistance.

The extracellular matrix (ECM) is composed of multiple components that are of important significance. Collagens I, II, IV, and elastin, all constitute the

complex ECM, and accommodate situations of stretch ^{25,26}. However, exposure to prolonged elevated pathological pressures, such as in pBOO, alters the ECM in several ways that contribute to the pathological complexity of end-stage bladder disease. ¹

Neuronal innervation to the bladder is autonomic in origin. Sympathetic innervation arises from the lumbar nerve roots L2, L3 and reaches the sacral plexus through the inferior mesenteric ganglia²⁷. Sympathetic innervation causes contraction of the bladder neck and internal sphincter, and helps in bladder wall relaxation by activating α and β adrenoreceptors⁷. Parasympathetic supply, originating from the sacral nerve roots of S2, S3, and S4, is mainly responsible for bladder contraction, via the muscarinic M3 receptors, and exerts a relaxing effect on the internal sphincter ^{28,29}.

The urinary sphincter is composed of two distinct groups of muscles. The inner sphincter is composed of smooth muscles, and controlled involuntarily by the autonomic nervous system, while the external sphincter, constructs of striated muscles and under voluntary control by somatic nerves. The pudendal nerve conveys somatic efferent signals from S2, S3, and S4 to contract the external sphincter, aiding in the continence mechanisms. ³⁰.

1.4 Pathophysiology of pBOO

With pBOO, detrusor muscle is required to generate increasing amounts of pressure to overcome the resistance. Initially, these changes are tolerable and attuned by compensatory mechanisms. These changes have been reproduced and

studied in animal models ¹. An increase in bladder capacity and wall thickness and mass, smooth muscle hypertrophy, and bladder wall hypoxia, are all part of the initial inflammatory compensated phase ^{1,31-33}.

Nevertheless, with sustained obstruction, signs of decompensation become evident. Smooth muscles fail to generate higher pressures, and diffuse changes in the extracellular matrix take place with high collagen deposition and a significant decrease in smooth muscle cells (SMC) to collagen ratio^{1,34,35}. These phases are characterized with temporal variable changes in several mediators, such as transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β), connective tissue growth factor (CTGF), hypoxia inducible factor 1- α (HIF-1 α), and platelet derived growth factor (PDGF)¹. Another possible factor that might contribute to the bladder dysfunction is bladder wall hypoxia, probably caused by high intravesical pressure compressing bladder wall capillaries³⁶⁻³⁸.

Ultimately, the bladder transforms into a small, fibrotic, noncompliant organ which is deprived of essential basic functions; i.e. proper storage and emptying ¹. Hence, normal urinary volumes can not be stored properly, and VUR ensues alongside with urinary leakage and incontinence ³⁹.

1.5 Current Management of pBOO

1.5.1 Diagnosis

Some of the etiologies of BOO have an insidious onset, making it difficult to be detected early on the obstructive process, and patients may present initially with obstructive renal injury ⁴⁰. To avoid that, every possible effort should be done to detect such pathology as early as possible. Careful history taking, with a focus on possible predisposing conditions should be elaborated. Physical examination aiming to detect a palpable obstructed bladder, and signs of underlying etiologies, such as an enlarged prostate on digital rectal examination.

Clinical history and physical exam do not always reveal the presence of lower tract obstructive uropathy, and more investigations are rendered mandatory. A simple, noninvasive bedside test is the measurement of post-void residual (PVR) using a specific ultrasound bladder scan. A high PVR coupled with symptoms of lower urinary tract obstruction are highly suggestive of BOO^{41,42}. However, functional studies remain the gold standard in the diagnosis of BOO, i.e. urodynamic studies. Showing bladder capacity, compliance, pressure and flow rates, urodynamic studies are the most helpful tool towards the diagnosis^{43,44}. Furthermore, it is a helpful tool towards future follow-up of the progression and effects of BOO and timing of intervention ^{45,46}.

1.5.2 Surgical Relief of pBOO

Benign prostatic hypertrophy, being the most common cause of pBOO, it is not surprising that transurethral resection of the prostate (TURP) is one of the most common procedures in adult urology⁶. Surgical interventions in BPH are utilized after failing medical therapy in most circumstances ^{47,48}. Several endoscopic procedures are being done to alleviate the obstruction, with different indications and techniques. TURP remains to be the benchmark of surgical options for BPH ⁴⁹. Other transurethral options include holmium laser ablation of the prostate (HoLAP), holmium laser enucleation of the prostate (HoLEP), and photoselective vaporization of prostatic tissue (PVP) ⁴⁹. Other less invasive methods include thermal needle ablation and microwave ablation^{50,51}. Open prostatectomy, being more invasive, is generally reserved for prostate volumes more than 80 mL ⁴⁹.

Posterior urethral valves in pediatric patients can be managed in different ways. Endoscopic resection of the valve procedures are readily used in the appropriate age and clinical setting with high success rates ^{52,53}. In premature neonates, endoscopic access is less feasible and an indwelling foley catheter is needed to drain the bladder. In the cases when long term drainage is required before surgery can be safely done, a cutaneous vesicostomy is performed ^{54,55}. Vesicostomies carry the risk of herniation if the stoma is of a big size, and a risk of stenosis if small, but the overall success rate in relieving vesico-ureteric reflux secondary to obstruction has been reported to reach 90% ⁵⁶. Intrauterine prenatal interventions are also performed under specific situations, where a shunt is placed to drain the bladder into the amniotic fluid ¹⁹. However, shunt patency is limited to 1- 2 weeks and migration is common ¹⁹.

1.5.3 Medical Approaches

1.5.3.1 Drug Therapy

Drug therapy is very effective in the management of BPH 57 . α -adrenergic

blockers were first studied for their therapeutic effects on BPH in 1976 ⁵⁸. Inhibition of α -adrenergic receptors, and specifically α -1A, relaxes the smooth muscles of prostatic stroma, and subsequently reduces the prostatic urethral resistance to flow. Examples to α -1A blockers include Tamsolusin and Silodosin. Silodosin has been evaluated and shown to significantly increase maximum flow rate (Qmax) after several months of treatment ⁵⁹. Furthermore, urodynamic evaluation has shown an improvement of obstruction in 56% of patients, and reduction in bladder overactivity in 40% of patients on therapy ^{57,59}.

5-α-reductase inhibitors, often used in conjugation with α-adrenergic blockers, help reduce obstruction through an intracellular enzymatic modification⁶⁰. By inhibiting the enzyme 5-α reductase, formation of the active form of testosterone, i.e. dihydrotestosterone, is reduced. ⁶¹. The use of 5-α reductase (5-AR) inhibitors decreased the incidence of invasive therapy for symptomatic BPH in 64% ⁶². In a large-scale long term comparative trial, combination therapy remains superior to monotherapy in symptomatic relief, Qmax, and quality of life ⁶³. However, relief of obstruction does not always prevent changes in bladder, especially when treatment is instituted too late, or was found to be ineffective.

Smooth muscle hypertrophy resulting from longstanding pBOO or a neuropathic bladder, leads eventually to an unstable bladder wall with spontaneous contractions, adding even more pressure and exaggerating the pathology progression ⁶⁴. Blockage of unwanted contractions can lead to an improved outcome after pBOO and neuropathic bladders, which is achieved

currently with the use of antimuscarinic agents ⁶⁵. Despite being the first described medication of this category to manage bladder spasms, oxybutinin remains to be the standard of care ⁶⁵. By reducing smooth muscles overactivity, intravesical pressure is lowered, and symptoms of overactive bladder are improved⁶⁶. The use of antimuscarinic therapy is associated with several unwanted side effects which may affect patients compliance, and maybe harmful especially in the geriatric population ⁶⁷. Solitary use of antimuscarinic therapy may not be a safe option, as a weak detrusor faced by outlet obstruction makes it very susceptible to retention and subsequent intravesical pressure elevations, introducing even more injury. Antimuscarinic therapy in these circumstances should be coupled with an effective way to drain the bladder, which is being achieved currently by clean intermittent catheterization.

1.5.3.2 Clean Intermittent Catheterization

Clean intermittent catheterization (CIC) is an effective mean of mechanical bladder drainage, along with indwelling urinary catheter. CIC is basically achieved by inserting a clean catheter to drain the bladder and then removed afterwards, i.e. an in-and-out fashion, which is usually done several times a day by the patient or the caregiver. CIC has several advantages over indwelling catheters and is the preferred method of lower urinary tract drainage⁶⁸. First described in 1972, it gained a rapid popularity over conventional methods and gradually replaced their use when indicated ⁶⁹.

The use of CIC helps to avoid many of the significant complications

associated with indwelling catheters ⁶⁸. CIC use has been associated with less UTIs, lower incidence of overflow incontinence, and preservation of renal function ⁶⁸. Furthermore, it allows for better self-care and improves independence, with less mechanical obstacles to the patient (i.e. carrying drainage bags). Timed regular catheterization allows the bladder to fill several times a day, being more physiological than continuous bladder decompression, and helps avoid associated detrusor laxity and areflexia. It is generally indicated in neuropathic bladders and in patients with high intravesical pressure despite medical treatment, and in particular, if evidence of renal injury is present ^{68,70}. CIC can be used in adults and in pediatric patients. Nevertheless, it is less tolerable in younger patients, especially if perineal sensation is intact, due to the unpleasant sensation that accompany this method ⁷¹, which necessitates continuous follow up and support.

Although less frequent and less severe than the ones associated with indwelling catheters, complications of CIC are still encountered, including urethritis, ascending epididymo-orchitis and bacteruria ⁷². Trauma and urethral bleeding occur roughly in 33% of patients on regular long-term CIC, but the incidence of urethral strictures remains low⁷³.

1.5.4 Lower Urinary Tract Reconstruction

When all conservative and invasive medical and surgical approaches fail, lower urinary tract reconstruction surgeries are indicated ⁷⁴. After prolonged obstruction, the bladder becomes stiff and uncompliant with significantly low capacity and high pressure. Augmentation surgeries are done as a mean to reduce

intravesical pressure and improve capacity. Augmentation cystoplasty, hence, is indicated for neurogenic and non-neurogenic end-stage bladder dysfunction ^{75,76}. Augmentation procedures were performed in an animal model in 1888, and in human patients one year later ⁷⁴. However, It did not become popular until the 1950s, with further approval after the use of CIC in the 1980 as a mean of drainage ^{74,75}. Several organs have been historically used to augment small fibrotic contracted bladders, including gastric, omentum, peritoneum and skin grafts ⁷⁷. Augmentation ileocystoplasty remains the most common procedure⁷⁴. In this procedure, a segment of ileum is detubulerised to be patched to an opened anterior bladder wall ⁷⁴. Unfortunately, augmentation procedures are all associated with a wide burden of complications. Early surgical complications include wound infection (5 - 6.4%), bowel obstruction (3 - 5.7%) and significant bleeding $(0-3\%)^{78}$. Long term adverse sequelae include augment failure that requires revision surgery⁷⁹, metabolic disturbances ⁷⁸, renal function deterioration⁸⁰, UTIs, stone formation^{74,81}, augment and bladder perforation⁸², and carcinomas⁸³. However, in search for better substitutes, a wide group of investigators are looking into autologous tissue engineered augments, aiming to reduce the fore mentioned morbidities, which we will cover in the following sections.

1.6 Current Avenues of Research

We have come to understand that the pathophysiology of the development of end-stage bladder after partial obstruction involves multiple pathways and molecules that interact and influence the bladder on the molecular and cellular levels. Furthermore, it has been clearly established that these molecules, proteins, and genes, are expressed in a timely, chronological fashion ¹. Such findings add several considerations to our knowledge about the pathology of pBOO, and improve our understanding of each phase of bladder deterioration, helping us target each phase with appropriate therapeutic interventions.

We will discuss in brief in the sections below some of the molecular pathways that are being studied currently, and their potential significance in the pathophysiology of pBOO, as well as the potential role of mesenchymal stem cells in the prevention and therapy of pBOO.

1.6.1 Molecular Pathways

1.6.1.1 Role of Prostaglandins in BOO

Prostaglandins (PGs) are prevalent in virtually all tissues ⁸⁴. They have been linked to several biological activities in health and disease. However, an interest in the role of PGs in the pathology of bladder outlet obstruction has gained a specific interest ⁸⁴. Prostaglandins effect is mainly mediated by cyclic AMP (cAMP), which has been linked to bladder relaxation and prevention of bladder smooth muscle hypertrophy ⁸⁵. A battery of research work has been done to investigate PGs and cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) enzyme relation to pBOO and bladder overactivity⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸.

PGI2, PGE2, cAMP and cGMP have been associated with the inhibition of

SMC hypertrophy in vascular grafts, and a reduction in their levels is speculated to be related to SMC hypertrophy and proliferation ⁸⁹. An experimental animal model of pBOO has demonstrated an increase in SMCs of bladder wall after 3 weeks of obstruction, with a concomitant reduction in levels of PGI2, PGE2, cAMP and cGMP ⁸⁴.

COX-2 levels have been shown to be increased as a result of pBOO and bladder wall stretch in several studies⁸⁸. However, the exact role of this enzyme is yet to be discovered. Several studies have evaluated the involvement of PGE2, its receptor EP, and EP subtypes in the pathology of BOO and overactive bladder (OAB)⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸. Intravesical PGE2 administration has been shown to induce bladder contraction, detrusor over activity, and reduction in bladder capacity in animals and humans ⁹⁰. In a neuropathic animal model after spinal cord injury, PGE2 level was found to increase in the bladder ⁸⁸. Furthermore, a higher level of PGE2 was detected in young patients with pBOO secondary to urethral strictures⁸⁷. PGE2 exerts its activity through the EP receptor family of G-protein coupled receptors, and 4 subtypes have been identified ^{91,92}. EP1 receptor has been proposed to be related to detrusor overactivity. In a pBOO animal model, EP1 knockout mice did not show signs of overactive bladder ⁸⁸. EP3 activation has been also linked to OAB, and higher bladder capacities achieved when antagonized ⁹³. On the other hand, EP4 activation is suggested to suppress detrusor contractions, and selective agonist instillation was observed to decrease the frequency of spontaneous contractions in rats with BOO⁸⁶. Manipulation of the PGs pathway may seem appealing to manage abnormal detrusor contractility secondary to pBOO,

however, aspirin instillation has been investigated in a rabbit model, but did not yield significant therapeutic effects in pBOO in terms of pathologic bladder contractility⁹⁴.

1.6.1.2 Transforming Growth Factor β

TGF- β has been involved in several cellular pathways and processes, and is being studied in different pathologic and physiologic states, including tissue injury, fibrosis, and tumor biology^{95,96}. TGF- β is secreted initially as a hypoactive precursor form, which is bound to the latency-associated peptide (LAP) ⁹⁷. TGF- β can be activated in several ways, to yield the active 25 kDa homodimer form ⁹⁷. In vitro activation can be achieved by acidity (pH 4), alkali, temperature (80° C) and urea treatment, while in vivo activation may involve a plasmin-mediated reaction, or proteolysis of LAP by cathepsin D or glycosidases ⁹⁸. Cells are also involved in the activation process such as with osteoclasts ⁹⁹.

TGF- β has been involved extensively in cellular growth and regulation of extracellular matrix. Inhibitory effects have been observed on the growth of epithelial and endothelial cells while having stimulatory effect on mesenchymederived tissues exposed to low concentrations of TGF- β (at high concentrations, it inhibits growth) ^{100,101}. TGF- β mediated extracellular proliferation has been clearly demonstrated, as it promotes an increase in the synthesis of fibronectin and fibrillar collagens (types I, III, and V) by fibroblasts ⁹⁷. It also decreases the expression of collagenases, transin/serine protease and plasminogen activator ⁹⁷. Furthermore, it stimulates tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) further

promoting extracellular matrix proliferation ⁹⁷.

TGF- β has several isoforms (TGF- β 1, TGF- β 2, TGF- β 3) and different distribution throughout mammalian tissues ⁹⁷. Activation of TGF- β receptors leads to a sequence of intracellular events, producing activated SMAD proteins^{102,103}. SMAD proteins are linked to gene expression, and observed to modulate several biological cellular functions, including fibrosis, tumor formation, and epithelial cell differentiation to myofibroblasts^{104,105}.

TGF- β expression has been shown to increase in response to pBOO in animal models ^{1,106}. Urinary levels of TGF- β has been positively correlated with the level of pBOO in animal and human studies ¹⁰⁷. In vitro studies of human bladder samples, treatment with TGF- β 1 induced smooth muscle hypertrophy, and increased collagens type I and III deposition in the extracellular matrix ¹⁰⁸. In an experimental animal model of pBOO, TGF- β type II receptor knockout mice had significantly less fibrosis and smooth muscle hypertrophy compared to wild type obstructed mice¹⁰⁹.

1.6.1.3 Nitric Oxide

Nitric Oxide (NO) was originally described in 1987 as a vasodilator molecule ¹¹⁰. Since then, our knowledge of it has been expanding, and the role of NO in different biological activities is being explored. NO has a major role in smooth muscle relaxation, and has been recognized as a neurotransmitter in the non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic neurons (NANC) ^{111,112}. NO has a major effect on smooth muscle relaxation. Binding of NO to guanylyl cyclase stimulates the production of cGMP from GTP, which poses multiple biological effects, including vasodilation and smooth muscle relaxation, via activation of protein kinase A2 and G^{113,114}.

cGMP deactivation is mediated by numerous phosphodiestrase enzymes (PDE) which hydrolyzes cGMP to 5'-GMP. Inhibition of PDE promotes longer actions of cGMP, which has been used for the vasodilatory effect in the treatment of pulmonary hypertension, and in erectile dysfunction¹¹⁵. The role of PDE inhibitors is also being investigated in lower urinary tract pathologies, and its possible beneficiary effects on bladder smooth muscle after pBOO¹¹⁶.

NO is synthesized from its precursor, L-arginine via the enzyme nitric oxide synthase (NOS), which has three different isoforms: inducable (iNOS), and non-inducable isoforms endothelial (eNOS) and neuronal (nNos) ^{117,118}. iNOS is involved in tissue immunity, tissue injury, inflammation and apoptosis ¹¹⁹. It is suggested that iNOS over-expression may lead to the disintegration of urothelial cells and inflammation, whilst non inducible forms (eNOS and nNOS) have a down-regulatory effect on tissue fibrosis¹¹⁸.

The level of expression of the different types of NOS has been studied in several animal models of pBOO. Several studies reported changes in iNOS, eNOS and nNOS levels in the obstructed bladders ^{116,117}. iNOS has been observed to increase in the early inflammatory phase of pBOO in an animal model, whilst eNOS and nNOS had more immunoreactivity only after 8-weeks of pBOO, which might explain their role in cellular apoptosis after chronic obstruction¹¹⁸. Furthermore, pharmocological blockage of iNOS has been observed to ameliorate

functional and fibrotic changes of pBOO, with similar findings in iNOS -/knockout animals ¹¹⁷. However, there might be some differential roles on these enzymes, as a recent study reported a significant decrease in the mRNA expression of eNOS with prolonged obstruction¹²⁰, which suggests lower capillary perfusion and hypoxia.

1.6.1.4 Gap Junctions

Gap Junctions are specialized areas on plasma membranes of cells that aid in cell-to-cell communication, and exchange of ions and molecules.¹²¹. Each gap junction is formed of two hemichannels, or connexons, and each connexon is composed of six connexin molecules $(Cx)^{122}$. An interest has been raised in their potential effect on detrusor overactivity secondary to pBOO, and attempts are being done to elaborate on their role. Alterations in the expression of Cx molecules have been observed in the urothelium and suburothelial tissue in overactive bladders ¹²³. Several Cx molecules have been noted to increase with detrusor overactivity secondary to pBOO, including Cx43 and Cx26¹²². The role of Cx inhibitors is speculated to be of benefit in this pathological aspect, and the inhibition of these Cx molecules might demonstrate a therapeutic role in OAB after pBOO. Kim et al. ¹²² looked into two Cx inhibitors, 18B-GA and oleamide, in rats with surgically induced pBOO. They observed an improvement in the cystometrographic findings after administration of these Cx inhibitors, in terms of increased inter-contractile interval, compared to obstructed rats ¹²².

Basic fibroblast growth factor (BFGF) has been observed to increase in

obstructed bladders, and was investigated in voiding dysfunction^{124,125}. Negoro et al studied the effect of BFGF on the expression of Cx43 in vitro, and concluded that BFGF is involved in the expression of Cx43 and detrusor overactivity. Their finding was also aided by their observation of increased detrusor activity after in vivo administration of BFGF ¹²⁶. However, a lot is still to be investigated in this area to uncover the exact interactions and mechanisms involved in detrusor overactivity after pBOO.

1.6.1.5 Hypoxia-Inducible Factor 1a

HIF-1 is a heterodimeric transcription factor, from the Per-aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator (ARNT)-Sim family ¹²⁷. It is a major modulator of gene transcription in hypoxic states ¹²⁸. It consists of α subunits (HIF-1 α , HIF-2 α and HIF-3 α) and a β subunit (HIF-1 β) ¹²⁷. It has been linked to several pathological states, including angiogenesis and tumor growth and metastasis, via regulating the expression of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) ¹²⁷. HIF-1 α has been observed to increase after pBOO^{1,129}, confirming the presence of bladder wall hypoxia. As the bladder pressure increases, hypoxia become more evident, especially in the voiding phase, which is thought to be from direct pressure against bladder wall capillaries ¹²⁹. Koritsiadis et al ¹²⁹ investigated the presence of ischemia in human bladder tissue after prolonged pBOO. In this study, samples were gained from patients with prolonged BPH, stained for HIF-1 α , and compared to normal human tissue. They found a significant increase of HIF-1 α in the submucosal and stromal cells of the bladder after 10 years of

pBOO, with gradual decrease afterwards ¹²⁹. Galvin et al ¹³⁰studied the response of human bladder wall cells to hypoxia in vitro, and demonstrated an increase in HIF-1 α and VEGF levels with time. In their experiment they observed an arrest of cellular growth and development, with an up-regulation of p27^{kip1}, a cell cycle inhibitor, which might contribute to the pathology of bladder decompensation with prolonged obstruction ¹³⁰. Alleviating bladder wall hypoxia after pBOO is a promising approach to prevent hypoxia-induced pathological consequences. Several HIF inhibitors are present, but are tested mainly for their effect in pathological angiogenesis in tumor formation and metastasis ¹²⁷.

1.6.2 Mesenchymal Stem Cells

Mesenchymal stem cells (MSCs) are currently being studied for their several unique features and capabilities. They are thought of as multi-potent stem cells that possess several immune, regenerative, and therapeutic effects. We will go into more details on MSCs and their relation to inflammation, fibrosis and tissue repair in the following sections, starting with a brief historic background, and their markers and characteristics.

1.6.2.1 History and Background

Bone marrow mesenchymal stem cells (BM-MSCs) were originally described in 1961 by McCulloch and Tell in the stroma of bone marrow during their research on the sensitivity of mouse bone marrow to radiation. At first, these cells were referred to as spleen colony forming units (CFU-S), after being observed to form new colonies in spleens of irradiated mice. They suggested that

these cells have two main characteristics, the ability of self-renewal and replication, and the potential for differentiation into tissue-specific cells, i.e. plasticity. ¹³¹. In the following years, Friedestein et al. demonstrated and elaborated on these two concepts on the fibroblast-like cells, and these cells were observed to form colonies in tissue culture, and were given the name of colony forming units - fibroblasts (CFU-F) ¹³².

Although these cells were found originally in the bone marrow, they are now also isolated from several organs and tissues, including liver, kidney, amniotic fluid, umbilical cord, and adipose tissue ¹³³. Adipose derived MSCs are more abundant than bone marrow derived cells, and form more colonies in vitro¹³⁴. The nomenclature of MSCs originated from the initial observation of their capability to differentiate in vitro into mesenchymal tissue, namely, osteocytes, chondrocytes and adipocytes¹³⁵. Nevertheless, it is now feasible to differentiate MSCs into endoderm and ectoderm-derived cells ¹³⁶. This allowed for experiments and trials of tissue engineering and regeneration. MSCs popularity expands beyond tissue engineering, and their role as anti-inflammatory agents is being explored, alongside with their potential to repair injured tissues and organs after systemic administration. They have been observed to interfere with dendritic and T-cell functions, and to create an immunosuppressive microenvironment by cytokine secretions ¹³⁷. Furthermore, their recruitment to a specific tissue is largely enhanced in the presence of inflammatory states 6,138 .
1.6.2.2 Characteristics and Cell Markers

Several characteristics are used to describe MSCs. These cells are characterized morphologically with a small cell body, and long, thin cell processes, simulating fibroblasts. They are known for their affinity to adhere to plastic, and this feature has been utilized to isolate them from bone marrow stroma despite their limited number (1 MSC in 10^4 to $5x10^7$ marrow cells)^{133,139}.

In regard to cell markers, MSCs do not show a specific or a unique marker, but they all express CD105, CD73, and CD90, and lack the expression of CD45, CD34, CD14 or CD11b, CD79 α or CD19, and HLA-DR¹³⁹. The lack of HLA-DR (MHC II) prevents recognition by host immune cells and renders these cells nonimmunogenic which removes the need for immunosuppressive therapy in allogenic transplants¹³⁷.

Chemokine receptors (CCR, CXCR) are abundant on MSCs. Chamberlain et al ¹⁴⁰ explained the expression of CCR6, CCR9, CXCR3, CXCR6 receptors on murine MSCs which are involved in the recruitment of immune cells to areas of inflammation ¹⁴⁰. Chemokine CCL2 has been seen to increase in inflammatory and fibrotic states, and blockage of CCL2 receptors resulted in less inflammation and fibrosis, an effect also seen in the cases of MSC systemic administration, which might give an insight to the mechanisms of recruitment to inflamed organs^{6,141}.

1.6.2.3 Role in inflammation and Fibrosis

MSCs have been studied for their therapeutic and reparative potential in

multiple tissue organs and diseases in animal models, with promising results. MSCs augment healing in inflamed and injured tissues, possibly by cell replacement, stimulation of original tissue regeneration, inhibition of apoptosis and fibrosis, or enhancement of angiogenesis^{142,143}. MSCs were seen to exert an immunomodulatory effects as well. In vitro studies have demonstrated an inhibitory effect of MSCs on tumor necrosis factor (TNF) α , interferon (IFN) α , and T-cell inhibition through IL-10¹⁴⁴.

Furthermore, MSCs have shown promising results in tissue repair and regeneration. In a bleomycin lung injury model, systemic administration of bone marrow derived MSCs has lead to a significant reduction in inflammation and collagen deposition ¹³⁸. In another model of lung injury, umbilical MSCs were seen to be recruited to areas of lung injury, but not to healthy tissue, as soon as 2 weeks after administration ¹⁴⁵. Furthermore, there was a significant reduction of pro-inflammatory cytokines, TGF- β , IFN- γ , and TNF- α , in this model as well ¹⁴⁵. These cells were not observed to differentiate into lung tissue, and despite this, their therapeutic effect was still observed, which proposes a local antiinflammatory and repair signaling exerted by MSCs to original cells. In a murine myocardial infarct model, local injection of MSCs into myocardial scars resulted in an improvement of left ventricular function after 4 weeks ¹⁴⁶. However, these injected cells did not express myocardial markers until 6 months post injection, but by that time, functional improvement has abolished, which again suggests the paracrine mechanism for cellular improvement and repair rather than direct differentiation into myocardial cells ¹⁴⁶. Another suggestive observation of the

paracrine mechanism is that the effect of MSCs is observed even when only few cells were seen to reside in the injured tissue by immunofluorescence microscopy⁶.

MSCs were observed to secrete IL-6, hepatocyte growth factor, VEGF and BFGF which all modulate cellular proliferation, inflammation and angiogenesis^{147,148}. However, a mixture of both mechanisms (i.e. direct cellular differentiation and paracrine factors release) might all take place in a phasic chronological sequence to achieve the observed effects.

One experiment has been done to evaluate the role of MSCs in short-term pBOO. Woo et al investigated the effects of systemic administration of MSCs in a 4 weeks pBOO mouse model. They observed a significant improvement in bladder wall compliance, capacity, and capillary perfusion, as well as fibrosis and collagen deposition compared to the obstructed animals without MSCs administration⁶. In this model, MSCs were given after 3 days of obstruction, and bladders were harvested after 4 weeks. Nevertheless, long-term effects beyond 4 weeks has not been studied in this model, which might reveal more findings that help understand the effects of such intervention. In this study, 15 animals were injected with MSCs, but the therapeutic effects were observed only in 10 which MSCs were actually seen to be recruited to the bladder, where in the ones that did not show MSCs recruitment did not have such improvements, suggesting a local microenvironment action of these cells when they are homed to sites of inflammation.

1.6.3 Bladder Tissue Engineering

Another different, yet promising area in the avenues of research in urinary bladder is the attempts for synthetic engineered bladder substitutes. In fact, the first tissue engineered organ to be tested in clinical trials was a neobladder aimed to substitute intestine for augmentation cystoplasty ¹⁴⁹. The current concepts of research relies on unseeded and seeded scaffolds, depending whether cellular components are being "planted" on different types of scaffolds or not before incorporation into living tissue. More success has been achieved with the use of seeded scaffolds, as unseeded scaffolds have been faced with several obstacles. The design in Atala's work depends on seeded acellular matrices, by obtaining homologous bladder tissue and expansion in vitro, and seeding these cells on a collagen scaffold. This graft has succeeded to increase bladder capacity but not the compliance due to the use of collagen. Several other scaffold materials have been used as well in addition to collagen, including small intestine submucosa, alginate, and polymers of polyglycolic acid ¹⁵⁰⁻¹⁵³.

MSCs have been also used in bladder tissue engineering. Tian et al successfully differentiated MSCs into urothelial tissue in vitro ¹³⁶. In vivo trial resulted in a luminoid bladder structure with urothelium and smooth muscle layers, after incubating MSCs and embryonic bladder mesenchyme under the renal capsule ¹⁵⁴. Nevertheless, a more promising work comes from the use of MSCs in a polymer scaffold (POC) ¹⁵⁵. This scaffold has the features of short half life, and furthermore, does not interfere with cellular activities¹⁵⁶.

Another approach into bladder tissue engineering has been conducted

without the use of exogenous scaffolds ^{157,158}. In this model, the method consisted of allowing skin fibroblasts to generate an ECM in vitro in an ascorbic acid environment, as previously described in a skin model ¹⁵⁹ followed by seeding with urothelial cells on top of fibroblasts tissue layers. The same researchers improved a previously described method of dynamic pressure cycles during graft development and formation, to enhance the graft's histological and functional characteristics^{158,160}.

1.7 Conclusion and Formulation of Research Question

The ongoing exploration of the pathological mechanisms of pBOO and the therapeutic attempts promise a huge change in the way that pBOO was classically looked at. The presence of a valid animal model of pBOO, which is reproducible and constant, has further accelerated the results in this field.

Different pathways are being examined, either on the molecular, cellular and translational aspects, seeking the effective employment of these collective findings into patient care. Knowing the exact pathological findings in each phase of pBOO that leads to an end-stage bladder will allow us to effectively target the pathological mechanisms involved. From the initial inflammatory, hypertrophied compensated phase, to the fibrosed dysfunctional bladder, interventions should be tailored to be phase-specific to effectively translate the bench work into clinical practice. Furthermore, our understanding of the initiating events will aid in the prophylaxis and anticipation of the deleterious events before taking place.

Mass spectrometry-based protein identification is a powerful tool to identify

and quantify proteins in different biological systems, and has been utilized in many pathological conditions to better understand the changes in protein expression in disease states. We will investigate the proteomic profile of bladder tissue after pBOO, aiming to identify major changes in protein expressions associated with this pathology, and possibly identifying new pathways that might serve as novel therapeutic targets.

MSCs have shown a great potential in the anti-inflammatory aspects, as well as with the healing and regenerative processes. We will explore further into their potential role in pBOO. We aim at preventing the pathological changes associated with pBOO, by systemic administration of MSCs early on the disease processes. We speculate that this approach will prevent the disease progression and provide protection to bladder's anatomical composition, and more importantly, its function. To further examine MSCs capabilities in our model, we will look into their effect on the common systemic and local inflammatory and hypoxic markers that are thought to exacerbate the pathology and result in end-stage bladder disease.

We hypothesize that early administration of MSCs will prevent the deleterious changes via preventing the inflammatory cascade leading to bladder decompensation. Animals will be subjected to pBOO surgically. Bladder function will be assessed with urodynamic studies. MSCs will be injected via tail vain, and bladders will be studied at several time intervals, assessing changes in a chronological manner.

These experiments, and their results, will add to current knowledge of

the pathology of pBOO, which will further expedite our steps towards the uncovering of the exact mechanisms of bladder dysfunction. Provided with a better understanding, and through relentless efforts, we will reach the cure, and by doing so we serve our noble goal, improving our patients' health and well-being.

1.8 References

- Metcalfe PD, Wang J, Jiao H, Huang Y, Hori K, Moore RB, Tredget EE. Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. *BJU International*. 2010;106(11):1686–1694.
- Fitzpatrick JM. The natural history of benign prostatic hyperplasia.
 BJU International. 2006;97 Suppl 2:3–6; discussion 21–2.
- NYM, MBC. chapter 60 Physiology and Pharmacology of the Bladder and Urethra. Tenth Edition. Elsevier Inc.; 2012:1786–e470.
- DEVEAUD C, MACARAK E, KUCICH U. Molecular analysis of collagens in bladder fibrosis. *The Journal of Urology*. 1998;160:1518-27.
- McVary K. Lower urinary tract symptoms and sexual dysfunction: epidemiology and pathophysiology. *BJU International*. 2006;97 Suppl 2:23–8; discussion 44–5.
- 6. Woo LL, Tanaka ST, Anumanthan G, Pope JC IV, Thomas JC, Adams MC, Brock JW III, Bhowmick NA. Mesenchymal Stem Cell Recruitment and Improved Bladder Function After Bladder Outlet Obstruction: Preliminary Data. *The Journal of Urology*. 2011;185(3):1132–1138.
- CGR. chapter 91 Benign Prostatic Hyperplasia: Etiology, Pathophysiology, Epidemiology, and Natural History. Tenth Edition. Elsevier Inc.; 2012:2570–e687.
- 8. McNeal J. Pathology of benign prostatic hyperplasia. Insight into

etiology. *The Urologic clinics of North America*. 1990;17(3):477–486.

- 9. Bushman W. Etiology, epidemiology, and natural history of benign prostatic hyperplasia. *The Urologic clinics of North America*. 2009;36(4):403–15, v.
- Bélanger A, Candas B, Dupont A, Cusan L, Diamond P, Gomez JL, Labrie F. Changes in serum concentrations of conjugated and unconjugated steroids in 40- to 80-year-old men. *The Journal of clinical endocrinology and metabolism*. 1994;79(4):1086–1090.
- Coffey DS, Walsh PC. Clinical and experimental studies of benign prostatic hyperplasia. *The Urologic clinics of North America*. 1990;17(3):461–475.
- Berry SJ, Coffey DS, Walsh PC, Ewing LL. The development of human benign prostatic hyperplasia with age. *JURO*.
 1984;132(3):474–479.
- Köhler TS, McVary KT. The relationship between erectile dysfunction and lower urinary tract symptoms and the role of phosphodiesterase type 5 inhibitors. *European urology*. 2009;55(1):38–48.
- McVary KT, Rademaker A, Lloyd GL, Gann P. Autonomic nervous system overactivity in men with lower urinary tract symptoms secondary to benign prostatic hyperplasia. *JURO*. 2005;174(4 Pt 1):1327–1433.

- Madersbacher S, Klingler HC, Schatzl G, Stulnig T, Schmidbauer
 CP, Marberger M. Age related urodynamic changes in patients with benign prostatic hyperplasia. *JURO*. 1996;156(5):1662–1667.
- 16. Krishnan A, de Souza A, Konijeti R, Baskin LS. The anatomy and embryology of posterior urethral valves. *JURO*. 2006;175(4):1214–1220.
- Belarmino JM, Kogan BA. Management of neonatal hydronephrosis.*Early human development*. 2006;82(1):9–14.
- Imaji R, Moon D. Imaji: Congenital posterior urethral obstruction -Google Scholar. Newborn Surgery; 2003.
- Nasir AA, Ameh EA, Abdur-Rahman LO, Adeniran JO, Abraham MK. Posterior urethral valve. *World journal of pediatrics : WJP*. 2011;7(3):205–216.
- Cuckow PM, Nyirady P, Winyard PJ. Normal and abnormal development of the urogenital tract. *Prenatal diagnosis*. 2001;21(11):908–916.
- Smith GH, Canning DA, Schulman SL, Snyder HM, Duckett JW.
 The long-term outcome of posterior urethral valves treated with primary valve ablation and observation. *JURO*. 1996;155(5):1730– 1734.
- 22. Mahfouz W, Corcos J. Management of detrusor external sphincter dyssynergia in neurogenic bladder. *European journal of physical and rehabilitation medicine*. 2011;47(4):639–650.

- MD BIC, MD GS, MD JDB. *chapter 2 Anatomy of the Lower Urinary Tract and Male Genitalia*. Tenth Edition. Elsevier Inc.;
 2012:33–e11.
- 24. de Groat W. ScienceDirect.com Urology The urothelium in overactive bladder: Passive bystander or active participant? *Urology*. 2004.
- 25. de Groat WC, Yoshimura N. Changes in afferent activity after spinal cord injury. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*. 2010;29(1):63–76.
- Clemens JQ. Basic bladder neurophysiology. *The Urologic clinics of* North America. 2010;37(4):487–494.
- 27. Yoshimura N, de Groat WC. Neural control of the lower urinary tract. *International journal of urology : official journal of the Japanese Urological Association*. 1997;4(2):111–125.
- Watson N, Eglen RM. Muscarinic M3 receptors mediate contractions in rabbit, endothelium-denuded aorta in vitro. *Journal of autonomic pharmacology*. 1994;14(4):283–293.
- Anderson KE. Pharmacology of lower urinary tract smooth muscles and penile erectile tissues. *Pharmacological reviews*.
 1993;45(3):253–308.
- 30. de Groat WC, Fraser MO, Yoshiyama M, Smerin S, Tai C,
 Chancellor MB, Yoshimura N, Roppolo JR. Neural control of the
 urethra. *Scandinavian journal of urology and nephrology. Supplementum*. 2001;(207):35–43; discussion 106–25.

- Austin JC, Chacko SK, DiSanto M, Canning DA, Zderic SA. A male murine model of partial bladder outlet obstruction reveals changes in detrusor morphology, contractility and Myosin isoform expression.
 JURO. 2004;172(4 Pt 1):1524–1528.
- 32. Sutherland RS, Baskin LS, Kogan BA, Cunha G. Neuroanatomical changes in the rat bladder after bladder outlet obstruction. *British journal of urology*. 1998;82(6):895–901.
- 33. Monson FC, Sun L, Wein AJ, Levin RM. Hyperplasia in the rabbit bladder urothelium following partial outlet obstruction.
 Autoradiographic evidence. *Molecular and cellular biochemistry*. 1995;152(2):167–173.
- 34. Kojima M, Inui E, Ochiai A, Naya Y, Kamoi K, Ukimura O,
 Watanabe H. Reversible change of bladder hypertrophy due to benign prostatic hyperplasia after surgical relief of obstruction. *JURO*. 1997;158(1):89–93.
- Andersson K-E. Storage and voiding symptoms: pathophysiologic aspects. Urology. 2003;62(5 Suppl 2):3–10.
- 36. Ghafar MA, Anastasiadis AG, Olsson LE, Chichester P, Kaplan SA, Buttyan R, Levin RM. Hypoxia and an angiogenic response in the partially obstructed rat bladder. *Laboratory investigation; a journal* of technical methods and pathology. 2002;82(7):903–909.
- 37. Levin RM, O'Connor LJ, Leggett RE, Whitbeck C, Chichester P.Focal hypoxia of the obstructed rabbit bladder wall correlates with

intermediate decompensation. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*. 2003;22(2):156–163.

- Schröder A, Chichester P, Kogan BA, Longhurst PA, Lieb J, Das AK, Levin RM. Effect of chronic bladder outlet obstruction on blood flow of the rabbit bladder. *JURO*. 2001;165(2):640–646.
- 39. McGuire EJ, Woodside JR, Borden TA, Weiss RM. Prognostic value of urodynamic testing in myelodysplastic patients. *JURO*. 1981;126(2):205–209.
- 40. Tseng TY, Stoller ML. Obstructive uropathy. *Clinics in geriatric medicine*. 2009;25(3):437–443.
- 41. Faubert PF, Porush JG. *Renal disease in the elderly*. Informa HealthCare; 1998.
- 42. Kaplan SA, Wein AJ, Staskin DR, Roehrborn CG, Steers WD.
 Urinary retention and post-void residual urine in men: separating truth from tradition. *The Journal of Urology*. 2008;180(1):47–54.
- 43. McGuire EJ. Urodynamics of the neurogenic bladder. *The Urologic clinics of North America*. 2010;37(4):507–516.
- 44. Dmochowski RR. Bladder outlet obstruction: etiology and evaluation. *Reviews in urology*. 2005;7 Suppl 6:S3–S13.
- 45. Kaefer M, Pabby A, Kelly M, Darbey M, Bauer SB. Improved bladder function after prophylactic treatment of the high risk neurogenic bladder in newborns with myelomentingocele. *JURO*. 1999;162(3 Pt 2):1068–1071.

- 46. Wu HY, Baskin LS, Kogan BA. Neurogenic bladder dysfunction due to myelomeningocele: neonatal versus childhood treatment. *JURO*. 1997;157(6):2295–2297.
- 47. Tubaro A, Montanari E. Management of symptomatic BPH in Italy: who is treated and how? *European urology*. 1999;36 Suppl 3:28–32.
- 48. Borth CS, Beiko DT, Nickel JC. Impact of medical therapy on transurethral resection of the prostate: a decade of change. *Urology*. 2001;57(6):1082–5; discussion 1085–6.
- 49. Association AU. Guideline on the Management of Benign ProstaticHyperplasia (BPH): 2009 Update. 2011:1–34.
- 50. Zlotta AR, Giannakopoulos X, Maehlum O, Ostrem T, Schulman CC.
 Long-term evaluation of transurethral needle ablation of the prostate (TUNA) for treatment of symptomatic benign prostatic hyperplasia: clinical outcome up to five years from three centers. *European urology*. 2003;44(1):89–93.
- 51. Gravas S, Laguna P, Kiemeney LALM, la Rosette de JJMCH.
 Durability of 30-minute high-energy transurethral microwave therapy for treatment of benign prostatic hyperplasia: a study of 213 patients with and without urinary retention. *Urology*. 2007;69(5):854–858.
- 52. Dinneen MD, Duffy PG. Posterior urethral valves. *British journal of urology*. 1996;78(2):275–281.
- 53. Youssif M, Dawood W, Shabaan S, Mokhless I, Hanno A. Early valve ablation can decrease the incidence of bladder dysfunction in

boys with posterior urethral valves. *The Journal of Urology*. 2009;182(4 Suppl):1765–1768.

- 54. Noe HN, Jerkins GR. Cutaneous vesicostomy experience in infants and children. *JURO*. 1985;134(2):301–303.
- 55. Bruce RR, Gonzales ET. Cutaneous vesicostomy: a useful form of temporary diversion in children. *JURO*. 1980;123(6):927–928.
- 56. Krahn CG, Johnson HW. Cutaneous vesicostomy in the young child: indications and results. *Urology*. 1993;41(6):558–563.
- 57. Djavan B, Margreiter M, Dianat SS. An algorithm for medical management in male lower urinary tract symptoms. *Current opinion in urology*. 2011;21(1):5–12.
- 58. Caine M, Pfau A, Perlberg S. The use of alpha-adrenergic blockers in benign prostatic obstruction. *British journal of urology*.
 1976;48(4):255–263.
- 59. Yamanishi T, Mizuno T, Tatsumiya K, Watanabe M, Kamai T, Yoshida K-I. Urodynamic effects of silodosin, a new alpha 1A-adrenoceptor selective antagonist, for the treatment of benign prostatic hyperplasia. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*. 2010;29(4):558–562.
- McConnell JD, Roehrborn CG, Bautista OM, Andriole GL, Dixon CM, Kusek JW, Lepor H, McVary KT, Nyberg LM, Clarke HS, Crawford ED, Diokno A, Foley JP, Foster HE, Jacobs SC, et al. The long-term effect of doxazosin, finasteride, and combination therapy

on the clinical progression of benign prostatic hyperplasia. *The New England journal of medicine*. 2003;349(25):2387–2398.

- 61. Jenkins EP, Andersson S, Imperato-McGinley J, Wilson JD, Russell
 DW. Genetic and pharmacological evidence for more than one
 human steroid 5 alpha-reductase. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1992;89(1):293–300.
- 62. Hollingsworth JM, Wei JT. Does the combination of an alpha1adrenergic antagonist with a 5alpha-reductase inhibitor improve urinary symptoms more than either monotherapy? *Current opinion in urology*. 2010;20(1):1–6.
- Becher E, Roehrborn CG, Siami P, Gagnier RP, Wilson TH,
 Montorsi F. The effects of dutasteride, tamsulosin, and the
 combination on storage and voiding in men with benign prostatic
 hyperplasia and prostatic enlargement: 2-year results from the
 Combination of Avodart and Tamsulosin study. *Prostate cancer and prostatic diseases*. 2009;12(4):369–374.
- 64. Cucchi A. The development of detrusor instability in prostatic obstruction in relation to sequential changes in voiding dynamics.
 JURO. 1994;151(5):1342–1344.
- 65. Moisey CU, Stephenson TP, Brendler CB. The urodynamic and subjective results of treatment of detrusor instability with oxybutynin chloride. *British journal of urology*. 1980;52(6):472–475.
- 66. Höfner K, Burkart M, Jacob G, Jonas U. Symptomatic and quality of

life response to tolterodine in subgroups of men with overactive bladder symptoms and presumed non-obstructive benign prostatic hyperplasia. *World journal of urology*. 2010;28(3):353–357.

- 67. Ouslander JG, Blaustein J, Connor A, Orzeck S, Yong CL.
 Pharmacokinetics and clinical effects of oxybutynin in geriatric patients. *JURO*. 1988;140(1):47–50.
- Newman DK, Willson MM. Review of intermittent catheterization and current best practices. *Urologic nursing*. 2011;31(1):12–28, 48; quiz 29.
- 69. Lapides J, Diokno AC, Silber SJ, Lowe BS. Clean, intermittent self-catheterization in the treatment of urinary tract disease. *JURO*. 1972;107(3):458–461.
- 70. Woodhouse CRJ. Progress in the management of children born with spina bifida. *European urology*. 2006;49(5):777–778.
- Pohl HG, Bauer SB, Borer JG, Diamond DA, Kelly MD, Grant R,
 Briscoe CJ, Doonan G, Retik AB. The outcome of voiding
 dysfunction managed with clean intermittent catheterization in
 neurologically and anatomically normal children. *BJU International*.
 2002;89(9):923–927.
- Lindehall B, Abrahamsson K, Hjälmås K, Jodal U, Olsson I, Sillén U. Complications of clean intermittent catheterization in boys and young males with neurogenic bladder dysfunction. *JURO*. 2004;172(4 Pt 2):1686–1688.

- 73. Igawa Y, Wyndaele J-J, Nishizawa O. Catheterization: possible complications and their prevention and treatment. *International journal of urology : official journal of the Japanese Urological Association*. 2008;15(6):481–485.
- 74. Biers SM, Venn SN, Greenwell TJ. The past, present and future of augmentation cystoplasty. *BJU International*. 2011.
- 75. Bramble FJ. The treatment of adult enuresis and urge incontinence by enterocystoplasty. *British journal of urology*. 1982;54(6):693–696.
- Mundy AR, Stephenson TP. "Clam" ileocystoplasty for the treatment of refractory urge incontinence. *British journal of urology*. 1985;57(6):641–646.
- Elbahnasy AM, Shalhav A, Hoenig DM, Figenshau R, Clayman RV.
 Bladder wall substitution with synthetic and non-intestinal organic
 materials. *JURO*. 1998;159(3):628–637.
- Greenwell TJ, Venn SN, Mundy AR. Augmentation cystoplasty. *BJU* International. 2001;88(6):511–525.
- 79. Edlund C, Peeker R, Fall M. Clam ileocystoplasty: successful treatment of severe bladder overactivity. *Scandinavian journal of urology and nephrology*. 2001;35(3):190–195.
- 80. Ozkan B, Demirkesen O, Durak H, Uygun N, Ismailoglu V, Cetinel
 B. Which factors predict upper urinary tract deterioration in overactive neurogenic bladder dysfunction? *Urology*. 2005;66(1):99–104.

- BeFoor W, Minevich E, Reddy P, Sekhon D, Polsky E, Wacksman J,
 Sheldon C. Bladder calculi after augmentation cystoplasty: risk
 factors and prevention strategies. *JURO*. 2004;172(5 Pt 1):1964–
 1966.
- Metcalfe PD, Casale AJ, Kaefer MA, Misseri R, Dussinger AM,
 Meldrum KK, Cain MP, Rink RC. Spontaneous bladder perforations:
 a report of 500 augmentations in children and analysis of risk. *JURO*.
 2006;175(4):1466–70; discussion 1470–1.
- Higuchi TT, Granberg CF, Fox JA, Husmann DA. Augmentation cystoplasty and risk of neoplasia: fact, fiction and controversy. *The Journal of Urology*. 2010;184(6):2492–2496.
- Khan MA, Thompson CS, Angelini GD, Morgan RJ, Mikhailidis DP, Jeremy JY. Prostaglandins and cyclic nucleotides in the urinary bladder of a rabbit model of partial bladder outlet obstruction. *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and essential fatty acids*.
 1999;61(5):307–314.
- Morita T, Wheeler MA, Weiss RM. Relaxant effect of forskolin in rabbit detrusor smooth muscle: role of cyclic AMP. *JURO*. 1986;135(6):1293–1295.
- Beppu M, Araki I, Yoshiyama M, Du S, Kobayashi H, Zakoji H,
 Takeda M. Bladder outlet obstruction induced expression of
 prostaglandin E2 receptor subtype EP4 in the rat bladder: a possible
 counteractive mechanism against detrusor overactivity. *The Journal*

of Urology. 2011;186(6):2463–2469.

- 87. Aoki K, Hirayama A, Tanaka N, Yoneda T, Yoshida K, Fujimoto K,
 Hirao Y. A higher level of prostaglandin E2 in the urinary bladder in
 young boys and boys with lower urinary tract obstruction. *Biomedical research (Tokyo, Japan)*. 2009;30(6):343–347.
- Schröder A, Newgreen D, Andersson K-E. Detrusor responses to prostaglandin E2 and bladder outlet obstruction in wild-type and Ep1 receptor knockout mice. *JURO*. 2004;172(3):1166–1170.
- 89. Jeremy JY, Jackson CL, Bryan AJ, Angelini GD. Eicosanoids, fatty acids and restenosis following coronary artery bypass graft surgery and balloon angioplasty. *Prostaglandins, leukotrienes, and essential fatty acids*. 1996;54(6):385–402.
- 90. Ishizuka O, Mattiasson A, Andersson KE. Prostaglandin E2-induced bladder hyperactivity in normal, conscious rats: involvement of tachykinins? *JURO*. 1995;153(6):2034–2038.
- 91. Andersson K-E, Wein AJ. Pharmacology of the lower urinary tract: basis for current and future treatments of urinary incontinence.
 Pharmacological reviews. 2004;56(4):581–631.
- 92. Coleman RA, Smith WL, Narumiya S. International Union of Pharmacology classification of prostanoid receptors: properties, distribution, and structure of the receptors and their subtypes.
 Pharmacological reviews. 1994;46(2):205–229.
- 93. Jugus MJ, Jaworski JP, Patra PB, Jin J, Morrow DM, Laping NJ,

Edwards RM, Thorneloe KS. Dual modulation of urinary bladder activity and urine flow by prostanoid EP3 receptors in the conscious rat. *British journal of pharmacology*. 2009;158(1):372–381.

- 94. Kibar Y, Irkilata HC, Yaman H, Onguru O, Coguplugil AE, Ergin G, Seyrek M, Yildiz O, Dayanc M. The effect of intravesical acetylsalicylic acid instillation on tissue prostaglandin levels after partial bladder outlet obstruction in rabbits. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*. 2011;30(8):1646–1651.
- 95. Massagué J. How cells read TGF-beta signals. *Nature reviews*.
 Molecular cell biology. 2000;1(3):169–178.
- Massagué J, Blain SW, Lo RS. TGFbeta signaling in growth control, cancer, and heritable disorders. *Cell*. 2000;103(2):295–309.
- 97. Sharma K, Ziyadeh FN. The emerging role of transforming growth factor-beta in kidney diseases. *The American journal of physiology*. 1994;266(6 Pt 2):F829–42.
- 98. Bonewald LF, Wakefield L, Oreffo RO, Escobedo A, Twardzik DR, Mundy GR. Latent forms of transforming growth factor-beta (TGF beta) derived from bone cultures: identification of a naturally occurring 100-kDa complex with similarity to recombinant latent TGF beta. *Molecular endocrinology (Baltimore, Md.)*. 1991;5(6):741–751.
- 99. Oreffo RO, Mundy GR, Seyedin SM, Bonewald LF. Activation of the bone-derived latent TGF beta complex by isolated osteoclasts.

Biochemical and biophysical research communications. 1989;158(3):817–823.

- Moses HL, Yang EY, Pietenpol JA. TGF-beta stimulation and inhibition of cell proliferation: new mechanistic insights. *Cell*. 1990;63(2):245–247.
- Battegay EJ, Raines EW, Seifert RA, Bowen-Pope DF, Ross R. TGFbeta induces bimodal proliferation of connective tissue cells via
 complex control of an autocrine PDGF loop. *Cell*. 1990;63(3):515–
 524.
- Johnson K, Kirkpatrick H, Comer A, Hoffmann FM, Laughon A.
 Interaction of Smad complexes with tripartite DNA-binding sites.
 THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY.
 1999;274(29):20709–20716.
- Massagué J. Wounding Smad. *Nature cell biology*. 1999;1(5):E117–9.
- 104. Ashcroft GS, Yang X, Glick AB, Weinstein M, Letterio JL, Mizel DE, Anzano M, Greenwell-Wild T, Wahl SM, Deng C, Roberts AB. Mice lacking Smad3 show accelerated wound healing and an impaired local inflammatory response. *Nature cell biology*. 1999;1(5):260–266.
- 105. Zavadil J, Böttinger EP. TGF-beta and epithelial-to-mesenchymal transitions. *Oncogene*. 2005;24(37):5764–5774.
- 106. Chul Kim J, Seo Il S, Hyun Park Y, Kon Hwang TA. Changes in

detrusor and urinary growth factors according to detrusor function after partial bladder outlet obstruction in the rat. *Urology*. 2001;57(2):371–375.

 Monga M, Gabal-Shehab LL, Stein P. Urinary transforming growth factor-beta1 levels correlate with bladder outlet obstruction.
 International journal of urology : official journal of the Japanese Urological Association. 2001;8(9):487–489.

- 108. Howard P, KUCICH U, Coplen D. Transforming growth factorbeta1-induced hypertrophy and matrix expression in human bladder smooth muscle cells. *Urology*. 2005.
- 109. Anumanthan G, Tanaka ST, Adams CM, Thomas JC, Wills ML,
 Adams MC, Hayward SW, Matusik RJ, Bhowmick NA, Brock JW,
 Pope JC. Bladder Stromal Loss of Transforming Growth Factor
 Receptor II Decreases Fibrosis After Bladder Obstruction. *JURO*.
 2009;182(S):1775–1780.
- Palmer RM, Ferrige AG, Moncada S. Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Nature*. 1987;327(6122):524–526.
- 111. Andersson KE, Persson K. The L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway and non-adrenergic, non-cholinergic relaxation of the lower urinary tract. *General pharmacology*. 1993;24(4):833–839.
- 112. Sanders KM, Ward SM. Nitric oxide as a mediator of nonadrenergic noncholinergic neurotransmission. *The American journal of*

physiology. 1992;262(3 Pt 1):G379–92.

- 113. Adam RM. Recent insights into the cell biology of bladder smooth muscle. *Nephron. Experimental nephrology*. 2006;102(1):e1–7.
- Lucas KA, Pitari GM, Kazerounian S, Ruiz-Stewart I, Park J, Schulz
 S, Chepenik KP, Waldman SA. Guanylyl cyclases and signaling by
 cyclic GMP. *Pharmacological reviews*. 2000;52(3):375–414.
- Corbin JD, Francis SH, Webb DJ. Phosphodiesterase type 5 as a pharmacologic target in erectile dysfunction. *Urology*. 2002;60(2
 Suppl 2):4–11.
- 116. Kim HS, Kim JC, Choo MS. Effects of nitric oxide synthases on detrusor overactivity after removal of bladder outlet obstruction in rats. Urologia internationalis. 2008;81(1):107–112.
- Felsen D, Dardashti K, Ostad M, Lemer M, Gross S, Chen J,
 Vaughan E, Poppas D. Inducible nitric oxide synthase promotes pathophysiological consequences of experimental bladder outlet obstruction. *Journal of Urology*. 2003;169(4):1569–1572.
- Chertin B, Rolle U, Solari V, Cascio S, Puri P. The role of nitric oxide in bladder urothelial injury after bladder outlet obstruction.
 BJU International. 2004;94(3):392–399.
- Moncada S, Palmer RM, Higgs EA. Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacological reviews*. 1991;43(2):109–142.
- 120. Yuan X, Wu S, Lin T, He D, Li X, Liu S, Li L, Wei G. Role of nitric

oxide synthase in bladder pathologic remodeling and dysfunction resulting from partial outlet obstruction. *Urology*. 2011;77(4):1008.e1–8.

- 121. Lampe PD, Lau AF. The effects of connexin phosphorylation on gap junctional communication. *The international journal of biochemistry* & cell biology. 2004;36(7):1171–1186.
- 122. Kim SJ, Park EY, Hwang T-K, Kim JC. Therapeutic effects of connexin inhibitors on detrusor overactivity induced by bladder outlet obstruction in rats. *Urology*. 2011;78(2):475.e1–7.
- Sui GP, Rothery S, Dupont E, Fry CH, Severs NJ. Gap junctions and connexin expression in human suburothelial interstitial cells. *BJU International*. 2002;90(1):118–129.
- Bägli DJ, Van Savage JG, Khoury AE, Carr M, McLorie GA. Basic fibroblast growth factor in the urine of children with voiding pathology. *JURO*. 1997;158(3 Pt 2):1123–1127.
- 125. O'Brien TS, Smith K, Cranston D, Fuggle S, Bicknell R, Harris AL.
 Urinary basic fibroblast growth factor in patients with bladder cancer and benign prostatic hypertrophy. *British journal of urology*.
 1995;76(3):311–314.
- Negoro H, Kanematsu A, Imamura M, Kimura Y, Matsuoka R, Tanaka M, Tabata Y, Ogawa O. Regulation of connexin 43 by basic fibroblast growth factor in the bladder: transcriptional and behavioral implications. *The Journal of Urology*. 2011;185(6):2398–2404.

- Ban HS, Uto Y, Nakamura H. Hypoxia-inducible factor inhibitors: a survey of recent patented compounds (2004 2010). *Expert opinion on therapeutic patents*. 2011;21(2):131–146.
- Majmundar AJ, Wong WJ, Simon MC. Hypoxia-inducible factors and the response to hypoxic stress. *Molecular cell*. 2010;40(2):294– 309.
- Koritsiadis G, Stravodimos K, Koutalellis G, Agrogiannis G,
 Koritsiadis S, Lazaris A, Constantinides C. Immunohistochemical estimation of hypoxia in human obstructed bladder and correlation with clinical variables. *BJU International*. 2008;102(3):328–332.
- Galvin DJ, Watson RWG, O'Neill A, Coffey RNT, Taylor C,
 Gillespie JI, Fitzpatrick JM. Hypoxia inhibits human bladder smooth
 muscle cell proliferation: a potential mechanism of bladder
 dysfunction. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*. 2004;23(4):342–348.
- McCulloch EA, Till JE. Perspectives on the properties of stem cells.*Nature medicine*. 2005;11(10):1026–1028.
- 132. Friedenstein AJ, Chailakhyan RK, Gerasimov UV. Bone marrow osteogenic stem cells: in vitro cultivation and transplantation in diffusion chambers. *Cell and tissue kinetics*. 1987;20(3):263–272.
- 133. Drzewiecki BA, Thomas JC, Tanaka ST. Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells: Current and Future Applications in the Urinary Bladder. *Stem Cells International*. 2010;2010:1–5.
- 134. Kern S, Eichler H, Stoeve J, Klüter H, Bieback K. Comparative

analysis of mesenchymal stem cells from bone marrow, umbilical cord blood, or adipose tissue. *STEM CELLS*. 2006;24(5):1294–1301.

- 135. Prockop DJ. Marrow stromal cells as stem cells for nonhematopoietic tissues. *Science (New York, N.Y.).* 1997;276(5309):71–74.
- Hong Tian PD12SBPD1YLPD13PXMPD45AAMD1AYZMDPD.
 Differentiation of Human Bone Marrow Mesenchymal Stem Cells into Bladder Cells: Potential for Urological Tissue Engineering. *TISSUE ENGINEERING*. 2010:1–12.
- Ryan JM, Barry FP, Murphy JM, Mahon BP. Mesenchymal stem cells avoid allogeneic rejection. *Journal of inflammation (London, England)*. 2005;2:8.
- 138. Ortiz LA, Gambelli F, McBride C, Gaupp D, Baddoo M, Kaminski N, Phinney DG. Mesenchymal stem cell engraftment in lung is enhanced in response to bleomycin exposure and ameliorates its fibrotic effects. *PNAS*. 2003:1–5.
- Dominici M, Le Blanc K, Mueller I, Slaper-Cortenbach I, Marini F, Krause D, Deans R, Keating A, Prockop D, Horwitz E. Minimal criteria for defining multipotent mesenchymal stromal cells. The International Society for Cellular Therapy position statement. *Cytotherapy*. 2006;8(4):315–317.
- 140. Chamberlain G, Wright K, Rot A, Ashton B, Middleton J. Murine mesenchymal stem cells exhibit a restricted repertoire of functional chemokine receptors: comparison with human. *PloS one*.

2008;3(8):e2934.

- Tanaka ST, Martinez-Ferrer M, Makari JH, Wills ML, Thomas JC,
 Adams MC, Brock JWI, Pope JC, Bhowmick NA. Recruitment of
 Bone Marrow Derived Cells to the Bladder After Bladder Outlet
 Obstruction. In: Vol 182. 2009:1769–1774.
- Abdel Aziz MT, Atta HM, Mahfouz S, Fouad HH, Roshdy NK, Ahmed HH, Rashed LA, Sabry D, Hassouna AA, Hasan NM. Therapeutic potential of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells on experimental liver fibrosis. *Clinical biochemistry*. 2007;40(12):893–899.
- 143. Zhao D-C, Lei J-X, Chen R, Yu W-H, Zhang X-M, Li S-N, Xiang P.
 Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect against experimental liver fibrosis in rats. *World journal of gastroenterology*: *WJG*. 2005;11(22):3431–3440.
- 144. Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 2007;213(2):341–347.
- Moodley Y, Atienza D, Manuelpillai U, Samuel CS, Tchongue J, Ilancheran S, Boyd R, Trounson A. Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells Reduce Fibrosis of Bleomycin-Induced Lung Injury. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 2009;175(1):303– 313.
- 146. Dai W, Hale SL, Martin BJ, Kuang J-Q, Dow JS, Wold LE, Kloner

RA. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in postinfarcted rat myocardium: short- and long-term effects. *Circulation*. 2005;112(2):214–223.

- 147. Kinnaird T, Stabile E, Burnett MS, Shou M, Lee CW, Barr S, Fuchs
 S, Epstein SE. Local delivery of marrow-derived stromal cells
 augments collateral perfusion through paracrine mechanisms. *Circulation*. 2004;109(12):1543–1549.
- 148. Weil BR, Markel TA, Herrmann JL, Abarbanell AM, Meldrum DR. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance the viability and proliferation of human fetal intestinal epithelial cells following hypoxic injury via paracrine mechanisms. *Surgery*. 2009;146(2):190–197.
- 149. Atala A, Bauer SB, Soker S, Yoo JJ, Retik AB. Tissue-engineered autologous bladders for patients needing cystoplasty. *Lancet*. 2006;367(9518):1241–1246.
- Pattison M, Webster TJ, Leslie J, Kaefer M, Haberstroh KM.
 Evaluating the in vitro and in vivo efficacy of nano-structured polymers for bladder tissue replacement applications.
 Macromolecular bioscience. 2007;7(5):690–700.
- 151. KROPP BP. Small-intestinal submucosa for bladder augmentation: a review of preclinical studies. *World journal of urology*.
 1998;16(4):262–267.
- 152. Calvano CJ, Moran ME, Parekh A, Desai PJ, Cisek LJ. Laparoscopic augmentation cystoplasty using the novel biomaterial Surgisis: small-

intestinal submucosa. *Journal of endourology / Endourological Society*. 2000;14(2):213–217.

- Portis AJ, Elbahnasy AM, Shalhav AL, Brewer A, Humphrey P,
 McDougall EM, Clayman RV. Laparoscopic augmentation
 cystoplasty with different biodegradable grafts in an animal model. *JURO*. 2000;164(4):1405–1411.
- 154. Anumanthan G, Makari JH, Honea L, Thomas JC, Wills ML,
 Bhowmick NA, Adams MC, Hayward SW, Matusik RJ, Brock JW
 III, Pope JC IV. Directed Differentiation of Bone Marrow Derived
 Mesenchymal Stem Cells Into Bladder Urothelium. *The Journal of Urology*. 2008;180(4):1778–1783.
- 155. Huebsch N, Mooney DJ. Inspiration and application in the evolution of biomaterials. *Nature*. 2009;462(7272):426–432.
- 156. Sharma AK, Bury MI, Marks AJ, Fuller NJ, Meisner JW, Tapaskar
 N, Halliday LC, Matoka DJ, Cheng EY. A Nonhuman Primate Model for Urinary Bladder Regeneration Using Autologous Sources of Bone Marrow-Derived Mesenchymal Stem Cells. *STEM CELLS*.
 2011;29(2):241–250.
- 157. Gauvin R, Parenteau-Bareil R, Larouche D, Marcoux H, Bisson F, Bonnet A, Auger FA, Bolduc S, Germain L. Dynamic mechanical stimulations induce anisotropy and improve the tensile properties of engineered tissues produced without exogenous scaffolding. *Acta biomaterialia*. 2011;7(9):3294–3301.

- 158. Bouhout S, Gauvin R, Gibot L, Aubé D, Bolduc S. Bladder substitute reconstructed in a physiological pressure environment. *Journal of pediatric urology*. 2011;7(3):276–282.
- Michel M, L'Heureux N, Pouliot R, Xu W, Auger FA, Germain L.
 Characterization of a new tissue-engineered human skin equivalent with hair. *In vitro cellular & developmental biology. Animal.*1999;35(6):318–326.
- 160. Wallis MC, Yeger H, Cartwright L, Shou Z, Radisic M, Haig J,
 Suoub M, Antoon R, Farhat WA. Feasibility study of a novel urinary
 bladder bioreactor. *Tissue engineering. Part A*. 2008;14(3):339–348.

Chapter 2

Early Changes in Proteomic Profile of Urinary Bladder After Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction

2.1 Introduction

pBOO is a commonly seen problem in adult and pediatric urology, and a significant cause of morbidity and mortality in these patients. As the obstruction ensues, different mechanisms and pathways are activated, with the potential end result of bladder fibrosis ¹. Multiple factors have been all linked to this pathology, including inflammation, hypoxia, and remodeling of ECM components ^{1,2}. However, what happens after acute obstruction, and the exact mapping of molecular changes over the time course of pBOO are yet to be discovered.

Proteomics is a collective term used to describe a wide array of protein studies. The term was first described in 1997 by Peter James, succeeding genomics, the study of genes³. Different methods and techniques are being used to identify global protein changes in disease conditions, aiming to achieve better understanding and identification of possible therapeutic targets. Mass spectrometry-based analysis is a powerful tool to identify and quantify proteins, providing a window to the proteome of different biological systems.

Herein, we explored the changes on the proteomic level of urinary bladder tissues in the first 14 days post pBOO, aiming to identify major changes in proteins and gene expressions involved in the initiation of pathological cascades, and relating these changes to the mechanisms of injury and the pathways activated.

2.2 Methods

To conduct this experiment, full approval from the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee was obtained. Three un-obstructed animals were used as a reference to normal tissue, and surgical induction of pBOO was performed as previously described⁴ for 3, 7 and 14 days with 3 animals per time point. Main outcomes were the measurement of bladder weight, urodynamic studies, and bladder tissue proteomic analysis. Real-Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR) was performed to determine gene transcription trends of proteins identified via mass spectrometry in this study.

2.2.1 Surgical Induction of pBOO:

Isoflourane anesthesia was used for induction and maintenance throughout the procedure. After confirmation of depth of anesthesia with toe pinch, and stabilization of respiratory and heart rate, animals were placed in supine position, shaved, and iodine solution was applied to abdominal and pelvic area. A lower midline skin incision was made, access to peritoneal cavity was achieved after dissecting the abdominal wall layer by layer. Urinary bladder was identified, and fine dissection was performed for proper exposure and identification of urethra, ureters, and adjacent organs. An 18-gauge angiocatheter was introduced into the bladder through bladder dome, and advanced into the urethra to serve as a urethral stent for calibration and prevention of complete obstruction. A 2-0 silk tie suture was passed below ureters bilaterally, placed around the urethra, and ligated gently with the angiocatheter in place, creating an external physical partial obstruction to bladder domet (*fig 2.1*). The angiocatheter was then removed, and bladder dome

closed with a 5-0 vicryl suture in a water-tight fashion. Abdominal wall, fascia, and skin were closed using a 3-0 vicryl continouos suture. Isoflourane was then discontinued and animals kept on oxygen per nasal cone until recovery.

2.2.2 Measurements of Bladder Weight & Urodynamics:

Under isoflourane anesthesia, an 18-gauge angiocatheter was introduced into the bladder through a superior cystostomy and connected to a water infusion pump at 0.1 ml/minute. Continuous pressure monitoring and readings recorded (cm H₂O) using a low-pressure transducer. The study was terminated when visible urinary leakage was observed from the urethral meatus. Bladder capacity, leak point pressure, and maximum pressure were recorded. Bladder wall compliance was calculated to reflect change of pressure with volume infusion (ml / cm H₂O). Animals were then killed humanely, bladders were excised and wet weight recorded. A segment of bladder tissue was then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and Shandon Cryomatrix (Thermo Scientific, UT). Paraffin blocks sectioned and stained with hematoxylyn & eosin. The remaining tissue was snap frozen in liquid nitrogen for subsequent protein extraction and analysis.

2.2.3 Protein Extraction from Bladder Tissue:

Equal samples of bladder tissue were obtained from each animal at sacrifice (200 mg bladder tissue). Tissue was submerged in liquid nitrogen and homogenized while frozen in a Micro-Dismembrator (B. Braun Biotech Inc., Allentown, PA). Tissue powder was suspended in a cell lysis buffer. Solution was kept on ice for 30 minutes, vortexed several times, and then centrifuged. Supernatant obtained and protein concentration measurement was performed

using the Bradford Bio-Rad protein assay (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA), to yield a final concentration of 2 mg/ml for each sample. Bovine serum albumin was used as a standard. Lysate was then used immediately or snap frozen and stored until further analysis.

2.2.4 Gel Electrophoresis and Staining:

For sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE), 12% BisTris Criterion precast gels (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) were used. Molecular weight ladder was loaded in first gel lane and 40 μ L of each sample was loaded with loading buffer. Gel was submerged in SDS-PAGE running buffer and run at 150V for 10 minutes, followed by 200V until dye visualized at the bottom of the gel. Staining performed overnight using Coomassie Blue protein stain.

2.2.5 Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry Analysis:

Each gel lane was cut into ten regions, and after in-gel tryptic digestion, analysis was performed using liquid chromatography-mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) in the Institute of Biomolecular Design (IBD) at the University of Alberta. Briefly, the excised gel bands were de-stained twice in 100mM ammonium bicarbonate (AmBic)/acetonitrile (ACN) (50:50). The samples were then reduced (10mM β -mercaptoethanol 100mM AmBic) and alkylated (55mM iodoacetamide in 100mM AmBic). After dehydration of the gel, trypsin (6 ng/ul) was added to just cover the gel pieces and the digestion was allowed to proceed overnight (~16 hrs.) at room temperature. Tryptic peptides were first extracted from the gel using 97% water/2% ACN/1% formic acid

followed by a second extraction using a 1:1 mixture of extraction buffer and acetonitrile.

Fractions containing tryptic peptides dissolved in aqueous 25% v/v ACN and 1% v/v formic acid were resolved and ionized by using nanoflow HPLC (Easy-nLC II, Thermo Scientific) coupled to the LTQ XL-Orbitrap hybrid mass spectrometer (Thermo Scientific). Nanoflow chromatography and electrospray ionization were accomplished by using a PicoFrit fused silica capillary column (ProteoPepII, C18) with 100µm inner diameter (300Å, 5µm, New Objective). Peptide mixtures were injected onto the column at a flow rate of 3000 nL/min and resolved at 500 nL/min using 60 min linear ACN gradients from 0 to 45% v/v aqueous ACN in 0.2% v/v formic acid. The mass spectrometer was operated in data-dependent acquisition mode, recording high-accuracy and high-resolution survey Orbitrap spectra using external mass calibration, with a resolution of 60 000 and m/z range of 400–2000. The ten most intense multiply charged ions were sequentially fragmented by using collision induced dissociation, and spectra of their fragments were recorded in the linear ion trap; after two fragmentations all precursors selected for dissociation were dynamically excluded for 60 s. Data was processed using Proteome Discoverer 1.3 (Thermo Scientific) and the nonredundant reviewed Rattus norvegicus protein database from Uniprot was searched using SEQUEST (Thermo Scientific). Search parameters included a precursor mass tolerance of 10ppm and a fragment mass tolerance of 0.8 Da. Peptides were searched with carbamidomethyl cysteine as a static modification
and oxidized methionine as a dynamic modification. For quantification of proteins between samples, spectral counting was used^{5,6}.

2.2.6 Quantitative Real Time Polymerase Chain Reaction (RT-PCR):

RNA extraction was performed from snap frozen bladder tissue after homogenization and suspension in Trizol solution, using RNeasy spin columns (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, Canada). After DNAse digestion for 60 minutes, random primers were used to synthesize first cDNA strand (Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada). RT-PCR was then performed (Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix, ABI, Foster City, CA). 25 µL used containing 0.2 µM of genes of proteins identified using upstream and downstream primers, and 1 µL of first strand product. Hypoxanthine-guanine phosphoribosyltransferase (HPRT) gene was used as control. Amplifications were done using an ABI 7300 real-time system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA). For standardization of amplification curves, HPRT amplification was used. Table 2.1 outlines forward and reverse primers sequences of genes used in this study.

2.2.7 Statistical Analysis:

Proteins present in all samples were used for statistical analysis. Data reported here as mean fold change from normal control \pm standard error around the mean of peptide spectral counts for each protein. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed for statistical analysis for all presented data (STATA software Version 12.1). A value of p \leq 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance.

2.3 Results

2.3.1 Animal Health:

All animals remained healthy throughout the duration of experiment, with no mortalities. There was no significant difference in animals weight preprocedural and at time of sacrifice.

2.3.2 Urodynamics and Bladder Weight:

pBOO induced an increase in bladder weight compared to unobstructed group, observed significantly in the 3 days group $(303.3\pm24.0 \text{ mg vs. } 200.7\pm4.6 \text{ mg}, \text{p-value } 0.01)$, and in the 14 days group $(535.0\pm82.5 \text{ mg vs. } 200.7\pm4.6 \text{ mg}, \text{p-value } 0.02)$ (fig 2.2). Bladder capacity showed an initial drop from baseline in 3- and 7-day groups, but increased in 14-day group compared to normal bladders $(2.2\pm0.3 \text{ vs. } 0.9\pm0.2 \text{ ml}, \text{p-value } 0.02)$ (fig 2.3). Leak point pressure remained relatively unchanged initially, with a trend towards increasing in the 14-day obstruction group but not statistically significant (fig 2.4). Bladder compliance followed the pattern of bladder capacity, with an initial reduction followed by an increase in the 14-day group, however not significant in all groups (fig 2.5).

2.3.3 Proteomic Analysis:

Stained gels after resolving protein solutions showed homogenous outcomes in all lanes (fig 2.6). An average of 613 proteins per sample were identified initially, and after isolating proteins repeatedly detected in all samples, 140 proteins were subjected to statistical testing. Table 2.2 outlines proteins with significant change from un-obstructed bladder tissue, and their fold-change from

baseline in all experimental groups. Marker of endoplasmic reticulum stress, 78kDa glucose-regulated protein (GRP78), was found to increase after pBOO being statistically significant in the 14-day group (fold change 3.7 ± 0.3 , p-value 0.01). Ras homolog transforming protein member A (RhoA) showed a 1.9 ± 0.2 foldchange after 14 days of obstruction (p-value 0.044), with an increase in RhoA-GDP dissociation inhibitor level (1.95 ± 0.1 fold, p-value 0.037). Cytoskeleton molecules, actin and tubulin- α/β , showed a statistically significant increase after 14 days of obstruction (table 2.2). Small leucine-rich proteoglycans (SLRPs) decorin and lumican, decreased after 14 days of pBOO (fold change 0.35 ± 0.04 and 0.34 ± 0.03 , p-value 0.048 and 0.002, respectively).

2.3.4 RT-PCR:

GRP78 mRNA expression showed a significant reduction in the 7-day obstruction group compared to 0-day group (0.56 ± 0.12 fold, p-value 0.039), and then increased after 14-days obstruction (mean fold change 2.57±0.61, p-value 0.064) (figure 2.7). RhoA mRNA decreased initially in the 3-day group (0.27 ± 0.04 fold, p-value 0.03) then increased significantly after 14 days of pBOO (1.93 ± 0.15 , p-value 0.04) (figure 2.8). Down-regulation of decorin mRNA was observed in all experimental groups, being statistically significant in the 3-day group (fold change 0.20 ± 0.11 , p-value 0.02) (figure 2.9). Lumican mRNA level decreased in all groups, however, did not reach statistical significance (figure 2.10). In keeping with our previous work, TGF β 1 & HIF1 α mRNA levels increased significantly after 14 days of pBOO (3.40 ± 0.30 fold for TGF β and 4.40 ± 1.00 fold for HIF1 α , p-values <0.01 and 0.03, respectively).

2.4 Discussion

What happens from pBOO to bladder fibrosis and end-stage bladder remains to be elusive. Multiple factors have been seen to play a role in this pathology, including mechanical strain, bladder wall hypoxia, and inflammation¹. Several factors and pathways are known to interplay throughout the time course of pBOO, including TGF β , CTGF, HIF1 α , and ECM proteoglycans ^{1,2}. However, the exact mechanisms and interactions are yet to be discovered.

Mass spectrometry protein identification is a superior tool to identify proteins and changes in their abundance, and has been utilized to understand several pathological conditions ^{7,8}. We previously demonstrated that several changes on the functional and molecular level have already occurred by 4 weeks after pBOO¹. However, the response happens early and likely multifactorial. Proteomics offer us an insight into a wide spectrum of proteins, and allows us to examine the changes in their expression and to detect novel pathways and potential intervention targets. In this current work, we describe the changes in the proteome of urinary bladder in a temporal fashion after 3, 7 and 14 days of pBOO. The majority of identified proteins can be grouped into being related to changes in cellular structure, stress, inflammation, hypoxia and oxidative stress. While some of the proteins detected in this study correlate with our previous work, such as with decorin down-regulation 1,2 , we identified new proteins described for the first time in association with pBOO, which might reveal to be of possible clinical benefit.

2.4.1 GRP78 and Endoplasmic Reticulum Stress:

GRP78 is a member of 70kDa heat shock proteins, and one of the most abundant molecular chaperons in the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) that is involved in proper protein folding 1,2,9 .

During states of stress, unfolded and misfolded proteins accumulate in the ER inducing endoplasmic reticulum stress (ERS), which activates the quality control process known as the unfolded protein response (UPR), characterized by an increase in chaperons involved in protein homeostasis including heat shock proteins^{3,9}. In general, heat shock proteins exert a protective effect on cells in stressful conditions, such as hypoxia, metabolic stress, inflammatory cytokine exposure, and apoptosis-inducing environments, and serve as a biomarker of cellular stress and disease ^{4,10}. Activation of UPR results in either proper folding of proteins, and if not feasible, degradation and triggering of apoptotic sequences^{1,9,1,2,11}. Our findings confirm the presence of ERS after 14 days of pBOO, evident by the increase in GRP78 protein level *(figure 2.7)* and heat shock cognate 70 protein level *(table 2.2)*.

In normal conditions, GRP78 is stable and bound to UPR activators: activating transcription factor 6 (ATF6), translation initiation factor 2 kinase (PERK), and inositol-requiring enzyme 1 (IRE1)^{7,8,12}. The presence of unfolded proteins dissociates GRP78 from these molecules, and increases transcription of UPR target genes, including GRP78¹³. GRP78 binds to exposed hydrophobic areas on unfolded proteins and restores proper protein form ^{13,14}. ERS and UPR activation is seen in several pathologies and fibrotic conditions, including heart

failure, chronic kidney disease, cystic fibrosis, renal and interstitial lung fibrosis^{12,13,15,16}.

Maintaining low levels of unfolded proteins and reducing endoplasmic reticulum stress is essential in maintaining the normal physiology of a cell, and preventing cellular apoptosis. In an animal study of liver diseases, GRP78 knockout mice had exacerbated pathological sequelae and mortality ¹⁷. 4- phenylbutyrate (4-PBA), a molecular chaperon that was shown to stabilize protein configuration and improve ER protein folding ¹⁸, provided neuroprotective effects in mice with hypoxic brain injury ¹⁹. In the urinary bladder, GRP78 was noted to increase after 24 hours of complete urethral ligation in animals, and treatment with 4-PBA resulted in lower ERS response in-vitro, and less apoptosis in-vivo ²⁰. In this previous model, applying mechanical strain to bladder tissue in-vitro did not show evidence of ERS, however, ERS was present after exposure to low oxygen conditions suggesting the role of bladder wall hypoxia rather than mechanical pressure in the induction of ERS ²⁰.

If this stress continues, cellular apoptosis is the end result of continuous accumulation of misfolded proteins in the cell and ERS activation. This has been demonstrated in an animal model of chronic kidney disease, where the presence of ERS was associated with increased proximal renal tubular cellular apoptosis ²¹. Instituting proper therapy and hence, reducing cellular stress, results in lower ERS activation and cellular apoptosis. This has been described in a rat model of myocardial infarction, where treatment with atorvastatin resulted in lower GRP78 and caspase-12 levels ²². Treatment with candesartan alleviated some of the

pathological sequelae and ERS response in kidneys in a model of ureteric obstruction ²³. These findings suggest the role of ERS as a mean of monitoring disease progression, cellular stress, and response to treatment.

2.4.2 RhoA/RhoA Kinase pathway:

RhoA is a small GTPase that belongs to the Ras superfamily. It has been found in our study to increase significantly in protein and mRNA expressions after 14 days post pBOO. Activation of RhoA from its inactive form RhoA-GDP, results in many downstream effects on the cellular and molecular level, which contribute to the pathology of pBOO. The active form, RhoA-GTP, exerts its effects through 2 main effectors: RhoA Kinase (ROCK), and Diaphanous-related formin (Dia), which results in increased smooth muscle contractility, cytoskeletal modulation, and formation of stress fibers ²⁴. It has been previously shown that RhoA/ROCK pathway is involved in urinary bladder smooth muscle contractility in humans and animals ²⁵⁻²⁷.

Hypoxia and mechanical stress, two of the main factors in pBOO, have been shown to activate RhoA/ROCK ^{28,29}. RhoA, through its downstream effector, ROCK, increases Ca⁺⁺ sensitivity in bladder smooth muscles, and inhibits myosin light-chain (MLC) phosphatase activity. This results in an increase in MLC phosphorylation and increased smooth muscle contractility^{26,30,31}. Several experimental studies found RhoA/ROCK to increase following pBOO ^{32,33}, and administration of Y27632, a ROCK inhibitor, resulted in lower contractility of obstructed bladder smooth muscles ^{32,34}. Collectively,

RhoA/ROCK pathway activation after pBOO seems to be a major responsible pathway for detrusor overactivity after pBOO.

Moreover, the activation of RhoA/ROCK seems to augment the pathology after pBOO by modulating nitric oxide pathway. In vascular endothelium, activation of RhoA/ROCK resulted in reduction of eNOS gene expression ³⁵, thus, reducing perfusion and augmenting hypoxia and fibrosis ³⁶. In spontaneous hypertensive rats, which are prone to develop an overactive bladder, treatment with verdanafil resulted in less activation of ROCK, and increased cGMP levels with improved bladder outcomes³⁷. This confirms the interaction between NOS and ROCK pathways after pBOO.

RhoA/ROCK activation might play a role in bladder smooth muscle hypertrophy as well. In vascular smooth muscle cells, activation of RhoA/ROCK resulted in vascular SMC hypertrophy ³⁵. However, mechanical strain, in addition to RhoA/ROCK activation, activated extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) 1/2 and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase (JNK) pathways, resulting in vascular SMCs hypertrophy, indicating that multiple pathways are involved in producing bladder SMCs hypertrophy ³⁸⁻⁴⁰.

The increase in bladder contractility after pBOO, required to overcome the increased resistance to voiding, might result in an exacerbation of the downstream effects on the bladder wall. This might explain in part the positive outcomes of controlling bladder wall contractility with the anticholinergic oxybutynin, which is the current proven treatment of pBOO 41 .

TGFβ has been documented to increase after pBOO and thought to be responsible for many of its pathological changes ¹. TGFβ and RhoA/ROCK pathways seem to interact on many levels. TGFβ is thought to activate Rho/ROCK pathway in a SMAD dependent and independent manner ⁴². It has been found to activate RhoA/ROCK pathway in neural crest cells, vascular endothelial cells, and rat pulmonary arterial smooth muscle cells ⁴³. The interaction between RhoA/ROCK and TGFβ /SMAD pathway is evident as well in actin modulation in fibroblasts ⁴⁴⁻⁴⁷. Moreover, administration of TGFβ to synovial-derived mesenchymal stem cells resulted in the activation of RhoA/ROCK pathway, which induced cytoskeletal reorganization ⁴⁸. Together, TGFβ and RhoA/ROCK pathways interaction seem to play a central role in the outcomes after pBOO.

2.4.3 Small Leucine-Rich Proteoglycans:

SLRPs are ECM proteoglycans that are involved in collagen fibrillogenesis ². Altered expression has been demonstrated in several pathological and fibrotic conditions ⁴⁹. Our laboratory has previously shown that decorin is down-regulated 4 weeks after pBOO ². Decorin binds to collagen fibrils, making them thinner and more regular ⁵⁰, and this reduction promotes abnormal collagen deposition and fibrosis. Here, we detected a significant reduction in decorin protein level after 2 weeks of pBOO, which promotes a pro-fibrotic environment (*fig 2.9*).

Another member of SLRPs, lumican, was noted to decrease after 14 days of obstruction as well. Lumican is one of the major proteoglycans in the ECM of

cornea, dermis, and muscle connective tissue ⁵¹. As with other SLRPs, the main function of lumican is the regulation of ECM collagen, contributing mainly to corneal transparency ⁵². Lumican-null mice demonstrated delayed wound healing, increased recruitment of inflammatory macrophages, and increased TGFβ level ⁵³. The homogenous effect of pBOO observed in this study on detected SLRPs could be explained by the increase of TGFβ level. TGFβ was found to have an inverse relationship with decorin in fibrotic diseases^{54,55}, and its activation resulted in reduction in lumican level in many studies, both in-vivo and in-vitro ⁵⁶⁻⁵⁸. However, the reduction of lumican level might be an early response to TGFβ, as its level has been noted to be elevated in fibrotic conditions such as hepatic fibrosis and post burn hypertrophic scarring, suggesting its role in scar remodelling^{49,59}. TGFβ-induced downregulation of lumican was prevented by blocking RhoA/ROCK pathway in corneal stromal keratocytes ⁶⁰, suggesting the importance of both pathways in regulating SLRPs.

Significant increases in TGF β and HIF1 α mRNA expressions were observed after 2 weeks of pBOO in this current study, confirming our previous findings ¹. These proteins were not detected by mass spectrometry, which highlights the limitations of this approach. Protein identification relies mainly on identification of peptides in a sample and matching them to computer-based databases. Several factors have been reported to interfere with the process of proteins identification, including extremes of molecular weight and protein length (very high or very low), peptide characteristics (e.g. hydrophobicity), and the database selection ⁶¹. These factors might attribute to the inability to detect some

of the proteins that have been previously associated with pBOO. However, despite these limitations, mass spectrometry protein identification remains to be a very reliable technique in proteomics, and is being utilized extensively in the modern era of global protein studies.

2.5 Conclusion

Multiple pathways are activated in the early phase after pBOO. Bladder wall hypoxia and inflammation results in an increase in GRP78 and HSc70, denoting accumulation of unfolded proteins and endoplasmic reticulum stress response activation, promoting a pro-apoptotic environment. Mechanical strain, in addition to hypoxia, results in the activation of RhoA/ROCK pathway, with its downstream effects of increased muscle contractility and hypertrophy, stress fibers formation, and interfering with nitric oxide metabolism adding more hypoxic injury and promoting fibrosis. Inflammation and TGFB activation is evident by the changes noted in decorin and lumican, favoring abnormal collagen deposition. TGF^β and RhoA/ROCK pathways interact and seem to play a central role in this pathology. Therapeutic targeting of all initiating events after pBOO, i.e mechanical strain, bladder wall hypoxia and inflammation, seems to be the appropriate approach to ameliorate the pathological sequelae and progression to bladder fibrosis. Figure 2.11 summarizes the changes in protein expression detected in this study, and their possible inducers, downstream effects, and interactions after pBOO.

2.6 Tables

Gene	Forward Sequence	Reverse Sequence		
GRP78	5'-CCAGCTTACTTCAATGATGCAC-3'	5'-CTTCTCTCCCTCTCTCTTATCC-3'		
RhoA	5'-AGGACCAGTTCCCAGAGGTT-3'	5'-ACTATCAGGGCTGTCGATGG-3'		
Decorin	5'-ACACCAACATAACTGCTATTCC-3'	5'-AGACTGCCATTTTCCACAAC-3'		
Lumican	5'-CACCAGAATGTAACTGTCCC-3'	5'-TCAGCTTAGAGAAGACCTTTCC-3'		
TGFβ1	5'-GAGGTGACCTGGGCACCAT-3'	5'-GGCCATGAGGAGCAGGAA-3'		
HIF1a	5'-TGCTTGGTGCTGATTTGTGA-3'	5'-GGTCAGATGATCAGAGTCCA-3'		

Accession	Gene	Protein		Ratio (O/N) ¹		
recession		Trottem	3 Days	7 Days	14 Days	
		Up-regulated				
P06761	Hspa5	78 kDa glucose-regulated protein	2.04	2.15	3.66*	
P69897	Tubb5	Tubulin β-5 chain	2	2.1	3.01*	
P45592	Cfl1	Cofilin-1	0.55	0.16	2.65*	
P20761	Igh-1a	Ig γ-2B chain C region	1.82	1.01	2.63*	
Q6P9V9	Tuba1b	Tubulin α-1B chain	1.75	1.73	2.49*	
P10111	Ppia	Peptidyl-prolyl cis-trans isomerase A	0.68	0.3	2.34*	
P63018	Hspa8	Heat shock cognate 71 kDa protein	0.94	1.13	2.16*	
Q07936	Anxa2	Annexin A2	1.49	0.79	2.16*	
O88989	Mdh1	Malate Dehydrogenase, Cytoplasmic	1.04	0.61	2.14*	
P09006	Serpina3n	Serine protease inhibitor A3N	4.93*	1.22	2.02	
Q5XI73	Arhgdia	Rho GDP-dissociation inhibitor 1	0.87	0.88	1.95*	
P61589	Rhoa	RhoA transforming protein	0.8	1.3	1.9*	
P60711	Actb	Actin, cytoplasmic 1	0.94	0.41	1.7*	
Q62930	С9	Complement component C9	2.17*	0.98	0.91	
Q6P734	Serping1	Plasma protease C1 inhibitor	2.74*	2.18*	0.89	
		Down-regulated				
P47875	Csrp1	Cysteine and glycine-rich protein 1	0.34	0.21*	1.09	
P31232	Tagln	Transgelin	0.50	0.16*	1.06	
Q01129	Dcn	Decorin	0.59	0.59	0.35*	
P51886	Lum	Lumican	0.75	0.58	0.34*	

Table 2.2 Protein identification and quantification results, and their fold change from normal unobstructed bladder tissue.

¹ Represent ratio of obstructed to normal unobstructed groups

* *p-value* < 0.05 vs. normal unobstructed group

2.7 Figures

Figure 2.1 Surgical induction of pBOO.



Figures 2.2 Bladder weight changes after pBOO.



* *p-value* < 0.05 vs. unobstructed. Error bars represent standard error around the mean.

Figure 2.3 Bladder capacity changes after pBOO.



* *p-value* < 0.05 vs. unobstructed. Error bars represent standard error around the mean.

Figure 2.4 Leak point pressure measurements after pBOO.



Error bars represent standard error around the mean.



Figure 2.5 Calculated bladder wall compliance changes after pBOO.

Error bars represent standard error around the mean.



Figure 2.6 Image of Coomassie Blue Stained Gel.





* *p*-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed for Mass Spectrometry data. # *p*-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed for RT-qPCR data. Error bars represent standard error around the mean.

Figure 2.8 Protein and mRNA expression of RhoA.



* *p*-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed for Mass Spectrometry data. # *p*-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed for RT-qPCR data. Error bars represent standard error around the mean.

Figure 2.9 Protein and mRNA expression of decorin.



* *p*-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed for Mass Spectrometry data. # *p*-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed for RT-qPCR data. Error bars represent standard error around the mean.

Figure 2.10 Protein and mRNA expression of lumican.



* *p*-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed for Mass Spectrometry data. Error bars represent standard error around the mean.

Figure 2.11 Summery of detected proteins and their possible effects & interactions reported in the literature.



2.8 Endnotes

A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication.

2.9 References

- Metcalfe PD, Wang J, Jiao H, Huang Y, Hori K, Moore RB, Tredget EE.
 Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. *BJU International*. 2010;106(11):1686–1694.
- Maciejewski CC, Honardoust D, Tredget EE, Metcalfe PD. Differential expression of class I small leucine-rich proteoglycans in an animal model of partial bladder outlet obstruction. *The Journal of Urology*. 2012;188(4 Suppl):1543–1548.
- 3. James P. Protein identification in the post-genome era: the rapid rise of proteomics. *Quarterly reviews of biophysics*. 1997;30(4):279–331.
- Sutherland RS, Baskin LS, Kogan BA, Cunha G. Neuroanatomical changes in the rat bladder after bladder outlet obstruction. *British journal of urology*. 1998;82(6):895–901.
- Gao J, Opiteck GJ, Friedrichs MS, Dongre AR, Hefta SA. Changes in the protein expression of yeast as a function of carbon source. *Journal of proteome research*. 2003;2(6):643–649.
- Liu H, Sadygov RG, Yates JR. A model for random sampling and estimation of relative protein abundance in shotgun proteomics. *Analytical chemistry*. 2004;76(14):4193–4201.
- Toss A, De Matteis E, Rossi E, Casa LD, Iannone A, Federico M, Cortesi L. Ovarian cancer: can proteomics give new insights for therapy and diagnosis? *International journal of molecular sciences*. 2013;14(4):8271–8290.

- Pastor MD, Nogal A, Molina-Pinelo S, Meléndez R, Salinas A, la Peña De MG, Martín-Juan J, Corral J, García-Carbonero R, Carnero A, Paz-Ares L. Identification of proteomic signatures associated with lung cancer and COPD. *Journal of proteomics*. 2013.
- Brooks DA. Introduction: molecular chaperones of the ER: their role in protein folding and genetic disease. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*. 1999;10(5):441–442.
- Liu T, Daniels CK, Cao S. Comprehensive review on the HSC70 functions, interactions with related molecules and involvement in clinical diseases and therapeutic potential. *Pharmacology & therapeutics*. 2012;136(3):354– 374.
- Xu C, Bailly-Maitre B, Reed JC. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2005;115(10):2656–2664.
- Dickhout JG, Carlisle RE, Austin RC. Interrelationship between cardiac hypertrophy, heart failure, and chronic kidney disease: endoplasmic reticulum stress as a mediator of pathogenesis. *Circulation research*. 2011;108(5):629–642.
- Kerbiriou M, Le Drévo M-A, Férec C, Trouvé P. Coupling cystic fibrosis to endoplasmic reticulum stress: Differential role of Grp78 and ATF6. *Biochimica et biophysica acta*. 2007;1772(11-12):1236–1249.
- 14. Mayer M, Kies U, Kammermeier R, Buchner J. BiP and PDI cooperate in the oxidative folding of antibodies in vitro. *THE JOURNAL OF*

BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY. 2000;275(38):29421–29425.

- Dihazi H, Dihazi GH, Mueller C, Lahrichi L, Asif AR, Bibi A, Eltoweissy M, Vasko R, Mueller GA. Proteomics characterization of cell model with renal fibrosis phenotype: osmotic stress as fibrosis triggering factor. *Journal of proteomics*. 2011;74(3):304–318.
- Baek HA, Kim DS, Park HS, Jang KY, Kang MJ, Lee DG, Moon WS, Chae HJ, Chung MJ. Involvement of endoplasmic reticulum stress in myofibroblastic differentiation of lung fibroblasts. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*. 2012;46(6):731–739.
- Ji C, Kaplowitz N, Lau MY, Kao E, Petrovic LM, Lee AS. Liver-specific loss of glucose-regulated protein 78 perturbs the unfolded protein response and exacerbates a spectrum of liver diseases in mice. *Hepatology* (*Baltimore, Md.*). 2011;54(1):229–239.
- Vilatoba M, Eckstein C, Bilbao G, Smyth CA, Jenkins S, Thompson JA, Eckhoff DE, Contreras JL. Sodium 4-phenylbutyrate protects against liver ischemia reperfusion injury by inhibition of endoplasmic reticulum-stress mediated apoptosis. *Surgery*. 2005;138(2):342–351.
- Qi X, Hosoi T, Okuma Y, Kaneko M, Nomura Y. Sodium 4-phenylbutyrate protects against cerebral ischemic injury. *Molecular pharmacology*. 2004;66(4):899–908.
- Sawada N, Yao J, Hiramatsu N, Hayakawa K, Araki I, Takeda M, Kitamura M. Involvement of hypoxia-triggered endoplasmic reticulum stress in outlet obstruction-induced apoptosis in the urinary bladder.

Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology. 2008;88(5):553–563.

- 21. Zhang C, Gao J, Zhang L. Effect of laminarin on the expression of GRP78 and GRP94 in rat after unilateral ureteral obstruction. *Scandinavian journal of urology and nephrology*. 2012;46(4):267–272.
- Song XJ, Yang CY, Liu B, Wei Q, Korkor MT, Liu JY, Yang P. Atorvastatin inhibits myocardial cell apoptosis in a rat model with postmyocardial infarction heart failure by downregulating ER stress response. *International journal of medical sciences*. 2011;8(7):564–572.
- Chiang C-K, Hsu S-P, Wu C-T, Huang J-W, Cheng H-T, Chang Y-W, Hung K-Y, Wu K-D, Liu S-H. Endoplasmic reticulum stress implicated in the development of renal fibrosis. *Molecular medicine (Cambridge, Mass.)*. 2011;17(11-12):1295–1305.
- Besson A, Assoian RK, Roberts JM. Regulation of the cytoskeleton: an oncogenic function for CDK inhibitors? *Nature reviews. Cancer*. 2004;4(12):948–955.
- Wibberley A, Chen Z, Hu E, Hieble JP, Westfall TD. Expression and functional role of Rho-kinase in rat urinary bladder smooth muscle. *British journal of pharmacology*. 2003;138(5):757–766.
- 26. Bing W, Chang S, Hypolite JA, DiSanto ME, Zderic SA, Rolf L, Wein AJ, Chacko S. Obstruction-induced changes in urinary bladder smooth muscle contractility: a role for Rho kinase. *American journal of physiology. Renal physiology*. 2003;285(5):F990–7.

- Takahashi R, Nishimura J, Hirano K, Seki N, Naito S, Kanaide H. Ca2+ sensitization in contraction of human bladder smooth muscle. *JURO*. 2004;172(2):748–752.
- Wang Z, Jin N, Ganguli S, Swartz DR, Li L, Rhoades RA. Rho-kinase activation is involved in hypoxia-induced pulmonary vasoconstriction. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*. 2001;25(5):628–635.
- Schiffrin EL, Touyz RM. From bedside to bench to bedside: role of reninangiotensin-aldosterone system in remodeling of resistance arteries in hypertension. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2004;287(2):H435–46.
- 30. Hong SK, Yang JH, Kim TB, Kim SW, Paick J-S. Effects of ovariectomy and oestrogen replacement on the function and expression of Rho-kinase in rat bladder smooth muscle. *BJU International*. 2006;98(5):1114–1117.
- Somlyo AP, Somlyo AV. Signal transduction by G-proteins, rho-kinase and protein phosphatase to smooth muscle and non-muscle myosin II. *The Journal of physiology*. 2000;522 Pt 2:177–185.
- Boberg L, Poljakovic M, Rahman A, Eccles R, Arner A. Role of Rhokinase and protein kinase C during contraction of hypertrophic detrusor in mice with partial urinary bladder outlet obstruction. *BJU International*. 2012;109(1):132–140.
- Burmeister D, AbouShwareb T, D'Agostino R, Andersson K-E, Christ GJ.
 Impact of partial urethral obstruction on bladder function: time-dependent

changes and functional correlates of altered expression of Ca²⁺ signaling regulators. *AJP: Renal Physiology*. 2012;302(12):F1517–28.

- 34. Takahashi N, Shiomi H, Kushida N, Liu F, Ishibashi K, Yanagida T, Shishido K, Aikawa K, Yamaguchi O. Obstruction alters muscarinic receptor-coupled RhoA/Rho-kinase pathway in the urinary bladder of the rat. *Neurourology and Urodynamics*. 2009;28(3):257–262.
- 35. Ming X-F, Viswambharan H, Barandier C, Ruffieux J, Kaibuchi K, Rusconi S, Yang Z. Rho GTPase/Rho kinase negatively regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation through the inhibition of protein kinase B/Akt in human endothelial cells. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2002;22(24):8467–8477.
- Chertin B, Rolle U, Solari V, Cascio S, Puri P. The role of nitric oxide in bladder urothelial injury after bladder outlet obstruction. *BJU International*. 2004;94(3):392–399.
- 37. Morelli A, Filippi S, Sandner P, Fibbi B, Chavalmane AK, Silvestrini E, Sarchielli E, Vignozzi L, Gacci M, Carini M, Vannelli GB, Maggi M. Vardenafil modulates bladder contractility through cGMP-mediated inhibition of RhoA/Rho kinase signaling pathway in spontaneously hypertensive rats. *The journal of sexual medicine*. 2009;6(6):1594–1608.
- Gimbrone MA, Nagel T, Topper JN. Biomechanical activation: an emerging paradigm in endothelial adhesion biology. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 1997;100(11 Suppl):S61–5.
- 39. Moustafa-Bayoumi M, Alhaj MA, El-Sayed O, Wisel S, Chotani MA,

Abouelnaga ZA, Hassona MDH, Rigatto K, Morris M, Nuovo G, Zweier JL, Goldschmidt-Clermont P, Hassanain H. Vascular hypertrophy and hypertension caused by transgenic overexpression of profilin 1. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY*. 2007;282(52):37632–37639.

- Zhang Z, Vuori K, Wang H, Reed JC, Ruoslahti E. Integrin activation by R-ras. *Cell*. 1996;85(1):61–69.
- 41. Moisey CU, Stephenson TP, Brendler CB. The urodynamic and subjective results of treatment of detrusor instability with oxybutynin chloride. *British journal of urology*. 1980;52(6):472–475.
- 42. Papadimitriou E, Kardassis D, Moustakas A, Stournaras C. TGFβ-induced early activation of the small GTPase RhoA is Smad2/3-independent and involves Src and the guanine nucleotide exchange factor Vav2. *Cellular physiology and biochemistry : international journal of experimental cellular physiology, biochemistry, and pharmacology*. 2011;28(2):229–238.
- Deaton RA, Su C, Valencia TG, Grant SR. Transforming growth factorbeta1-induced expression of smooth muscle marker genes involves activation of PKN and p38 MAPK. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY*. 2005;280(35):31172–31181.
- 44. Moustakas A, Stournaras C. Regulation of actin organisation by TGF-beta in H-ras-transformed fibroblasts. *Journal of cell science*. 1999;112 (Pt 8):1169–1179.
- 45. Vardouli L, Moustakas A, Stournaras C. LIM-kinase 2 and cofilin

phosphorylation mediate actin cytoskeleton reorganization induced by transforming growth factor-beta. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY*. 2005;280(12):11448–11457.

- Vardouli L, Vasilaki E, Papadimitriou E, Kardassis D, Stournaras C. A novel mechanism of TGFbeta-induced actin reorganization mediated by Smad proteins and Rho GTPases. *The FEBS journal*. 2008;275(16):4074– 4087.
- 47. Vasilaki E, Papadimitriou E, Tajadura V, Ridley AJ, Stournaras C, Kardassis D. Transcriptional regulation of the small GTPase RhoB gene by TGF {beta}-induced signaling pathways. *FASEB journal : official publication of the Federation of American Societies for Experimental Biology*. 2010;24(3):891–905.
- 48. Xu T, Wu M, Feng J, Lin X, Gu Z. RhoA/Rho kinase signaling regulates transforming growth factor-β1-induced chondrogenesis and actin organization of synovium-derived mesenchymal stem cells through interaction with the Smad pathway. *International journal of molecular medicine*. 2012;30(5):1119–1125.
- Honardoust D, Varkey M, Hori K, Ding J, Shankowsky HA, Tredget EE. Small leucine-rich proteoglycans, decorin and fibromodulin, are reduced in postburn hypertrophic scar. *Wound Repair and Regeneration*. 2011;19(3):368–378.
- Kalamajski S, Aspberg A, Oldberg A. The decorin sequence
 SYIRIADTNIT binds collagen type I. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL*

CHEMISTRY. 2007;282(22):16062–16067.

- 51. Oldberg A, Antonsson P, Lindblom K, Heinegård D. A collagen-binding
 59-kd protein (fibromodulin) is structurally related to the small interstitial
 proteoglycans PG-S1 and PG-S2 (decorin). *The EMBO journal*.
 1989;8(9):2601–2604.
- Midura RJ, Hascall VC. Bone sialoprotein--a mucin in disguise? *Glycobiology*. 1996;6(7):677–681.
- Yeh J-T, Yeh L-K, Jung S-M, Chang T-J, Wu H-H, Shiu T-F, Liu C-Y, Kao WW-Y, Chu P-H. Impaired skin wound healing in lumican-null mice. *The British journal of dermatology*. 2010;163(6):1174–1180.
- 54. Kolb M, Margetts PJ, Sime PJ, Gauldie J. Proteoglycans decorin and biglycan differentially modulate TGF-beta-mediated fibrotic responses in the lung. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol*. 2001;280(6):L1327–34.
- 55. Hildebrand A, Romarís M, Rasmussen LM, Heinegård D, Twardzik DR, Border WA, Ruoslahti E. Interaction of the small interstitial proteoglycans biglycan, decorin and fibromodulin with transforming growth factor beta. *The Biochemical journal*. 1994;302 (Pt 2):527–534.
- 56. Funderburgh JL, Funderburgh ML, Mann MM, Corpuz L, Roth MR. Proteoglycan expression during transforming growth factor beta -induced keratocyte-myofibroblast transdifferentiation. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY*. 2001;276(47):44173–44178.
- Botella LM, Sanz-Rodriguez F, Sanchez-Elsner T, Langa C, Ramirez JR,
 Vary C, Roughley PJ, Bernabeu C. Lumican is down-regulated in cells

expressing endoglin. Evidence for an inverse correlationship between Endoglin and Lumican expression. *Matrix biology : journal of the International Society for Matrix Biology*. 2004;22(7):561–572.

- 58. Honardoust D, Eslami A, Larjava H, Häkkinen L. Localization of small leucine-rich proteoglycans and transforming growth factor-beta in human oral mucosal wound healing. *Wound repair and regeneration : official publication of the Wound Healing Society [and] the European Tissue Repair Society*. 2008;16(6):814–823.
- 59. Krishnan A, Li X, Kao W-Y, Viker K, Butters K, Masuoka H, Knudsen B, Gores G, Charlton M. Lumican, an extracellular matrix proteoglycan, is a novel requisite for hepatic fibrosis. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods and pathology*. 2012;92(12):1712–1725.
- Chen J, Guerriero E, Sado Y, SundarRaj N. Rho-mediated regulation of TGF-beta1- and FGF-2-induced activation of corneal stromal keratocytes. *Investigative ophthalmology & visual science*. 2009;50(8):3662–3670.
- 61. Lubec G, Afjehi-Sadat L. Limitations and pitfalls in protein identification by mass spectrometry. *Chemical reviews*. 2007;107(8):3568–3584.
Chapter 3 The Role of Mesenchymal Stem Cells in Partial Bladder Outlet Obstruction

3.1 Introduction

pBOO, defined as an increase in pressure required for voiding, is a ubiquitous problem in urology. The etiologies of pBOO affect a wide range of age groups, from BPH in adult men to posterior urethral valves in the pediatric population. High intravesical pressure induces a sequence of inflammatory changes initially, which if left untreated, is followed by SMC hypertrophy, fibrosis and end-stage bladder development¹.

Mechanical strain, bladder wall hypoxia, oxidative stress, and inflammation have been all implemented in the pathogenesis of pBOO^{1,2}. However, targeting bladder SMCs contractility with the anti-cholinergic oxybutynin remains the only proven therapy of pBOO³. Several mediators and pathways are induced in response to pBOO, and thought to modulate its pathological outcomes, including TGF β , RhoA, HIF1 α , and ERS^{1,4,5}.

MSCs are currently being investigated for their therapeutic and reparative potentials in animal models and clinical trials⁶⁻⁸. They are seen to be recruited to injured and inflamed tissues and exert therapeutic immunomodulatory actions⁹. These cells were demonstrated to exert an inhibitory effect on many inflammatory markers, including TGF β , IFN α/γ , and TNF $\alpha^{9,10}$. Furthermore, they were observed to secrete several growth factors that are involved in tissue regeneration and angiogenesis^{11,12}. In this current study, we hypothesized that the administration of MSCs will result in decreased inflammatory response and

hypoxic state in the early phase after pBOO. We induced pBOO surgically and MSCs were administered intravenously. Outcomes were measured in terms of bladder weight, urodynamics, and RT-PCR studies of inflammatory, hypoxic, and ERS markers, in addition to ECM proteoglycans.

3.2 Methods

Full approval from the University of Alberta Animal Care and Use Committee was obtained prior to conducting this study. A total of 15 female Sprague-Dawley rats (weight > 200 gm) were used divided into 5 groups. Three (n=3) animals were used as normal unobstructed group, and pBOO was induced surgically for 7 and 14 days, with (treatment group) and without (control group) intravenous administration of green fluorescent protein (GFP) producing-MSCs. Immunofluorescent microscopy studies of bladder tissues were performed to detect the presence of MSCs. Functional and molecular outcomes were measured in terms of changes in bladder weight, urodynamics, and RT-PCR for inflammatory markers TGF β and RhoA, hypoxic marker HIF1 α , ERS marker GRP78, and ECM proteoglycans decorin and lumican.

3.2.1 Surgical Induction of pBOO:

Under isoflourane anesthesia, animals were subjected to surgical induction of pBOO as previously described¹³. Lower midline abdominal incision was made, accessing the peritoneal cavity and exposing urinary bladder and surrounding tissue. An 18-guage angiocatheter was introduced through a bladder dome cystostomy and advanced into the urethra for calibration and avoidance of complete urethral ligation. A 2-0 silk suture was then passed inferior to vesicoureteric junction, and ligated gently around the urethra to produce partial obstruction. Closure of bladder dome was then performed using a 5-0 vicryl suture after removal of the angiocatheter. Abdominal wall and skin were closed thereafter and animal was allowed to recover.

3.2.2 Measurements of Bladder Weight & Urodynamics:

At time of sacrifice, bladders were excised and wet weight recorded. For urodynamic studies, 18-guage angiocatheter was introduced into the bladder, and was then connected to water infusion pump (0.1 ml/minute), and a low-pressure transducer (cm/H₂O). Pressure readings were recorded during filling and at time of urinary leakage per urethra (leak point pressure). Bladder capacity was then recorded. Bladder wall compliance was calculated to represent intravesical pressure changes with volume infused (ml/cm H₂O).

3.2.3 Mesenchymal Stem Cells:

Sprague-Dawley rats mesenchymal stem cells, which have been transfected with a lentiviral construct encoding a GFP expression motif, were obtained commercially (Cyagen Biosciences Inc, Sunnyvale, CA, product RASMX-01101). They were acquired in passage 3, and passaged up to passage 8 using company's recommended growth medium and protocol (GUXMX-90011). A dose of 5×10^6 cells suspended in 0.5 ml saline was administered intravenously (tail vein) at time of surgical induction of pBOO to treatment group animals.

3.2.4 Detection of MSCs in Bladder Tissue:

A section of bladder tissue was obtained from all animals and fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde solution. Unstained paraffin-block slides were obtained, deparaffinized and prepared with xylene and alcohol, washed with PBS, and then mounted using 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) containing mounting-solution (ProLong Gold Antifade mounting medium, Invitrogen, ON, Canada). Images were captured using Carl Ziess fluorescence microscope using DAPI and

FITC fluorescence filters (Carl Ziess Microimaging Inc., Thornwood, NY). Control group bladder tissues were used as a negative control.

3.2.5 Expression of Target Genes:

Snap frozen bladder tissues were used after homogenization with a Micro-Dismembrator (B.Braun Biotech Inc., Allentown, PA). Tissue powder was then suspended in Trizole solution, and total RNA was extracted using RNeasy spin columns (Qiagen, Mississauga, ON, Canada). DNAse digestion for 60 minutes was performed, and then random primers were used to synthesize first cDNA strand (Sigma, Oakville, ON, Canada). Real-time RT-PCR was then conducted (Power SYBR Green PCR Master Mix, ABI, Foster City, CA). 1 µL of first strand product was used, along with 25 µL containing 0.2 µM of target genes with upstream and downstream primers. For control, HPRT gene was used. An ABI 7300 real-time system (Applied Biosystems, Foster City, CA) was used for amplifications. HPRT amplification was used for standardization of amplification curves. *Table2.1* outlines forward and reverse primers sequences of genes used in this study.

3.2.6 Statistical Analysis:

Data are presented as mean \pm standard error around the mean. ANOVA was performed for all presented data (STATA software Version 12.1). A value of $p \le 0.05$ was used to determine statistical significance.

3.3 Results

3.3.1 Fluorescence Microscopy Imaging:

GFP-positive cells were detected in all treatment groups after 7 and 14 days of pBOO. Figure 3.1 represents two panels taken from two different animals from the treatment group after 14 days of obstruction.

3.3.2 Bladder Weight and Urodynamics:

pBOO induced an increase in mean bladder weight in all groups, being statistically significant from unobstructed animals after 14 days (535.0±82.5 vs. 200.7±4.6 mg, p-value 0.016) (figure 3.2). No statistically significant difference observed between control and treatment group in all time points.

Bladder capacity increased significantly in the control group after 14 days compared to unobstructed group $(2.15\pm0.30 \text{ vs. } 0.90\pm0.17 \text{ ml}, \text{ p-value } 0.02)$. Treatment with MSCs resulted in significantly lower bladder capacity than controls after 14 days, resembling normal unobstructed bladder capacity $(0.91\pm0.29 \text{ vs. } 2.15\pm0.3 \text{ ml}, \text{ p-value } 0.04)$ (figure 3.3). No statistically significant changes observed in leak point pressure and bladder wall compliance between control and treatment group, and compared to unobstructed bladders at all time points (figures 3.4 & 3.5).

3.3.3 RT-PCR:

Obstruction for 14 days induced a statistically significant increase in TGF β in group compared to unobstructed group (mean fold change 3.40±0.30, p-value <0.01). Treatment with MSCs resulted in lower TGF β level after 14 days

compared to control, with the difference being marginally significant $(2.10\pm0.38$ vs. 3.40 ± 0.30 , p-value 0.059) (figure 3.6).

HIF1 α mRNA expression was found to be significantly lower in the 7 days control group compared to unobstructed (0.15±0.03 fold, p-value 0.02), and significantly higher in the 14 days control compared to unobstructed (4.39±0.98 fold, p-value 0.03). Treatment group had significantly lower HIF1 α mRNA expression compared to untreated group (0.37±0.18 vs. 4.39±0.98 fold, p-value 0.02) (figure 3.7).

RhoA transforming protein mRNA was found to increase in the 14 days control group (1.92 ± 0.16 fold, p-value 0.04). Treatment group had lower mRNA expression of RhoA compared to control (0.45 ± 0.23 vs. 1.92 ± 0.16 fold, p-value 0.01) (figure 3.8). Endoplasmic reticulum chaperon, GRP78, was significantly lower in the treatment group compared to control after 14 days (0.83 ± 0.12 vs. 2.57 ± 0.61 , p-value 0.049) (figure 3.9).

Mean mRNA expression of lumican was generally lower in obstructed groups compared to unobstructed; however, not statistically significant (figure 3.10). pBOO induced a reduction in decorin mRNA levels from unobstructed, being marginally significant in the 14 days control group (0.40±0.10 fold, p-value 0.053) (figure 3.11). Treatment with MSCs did not result in a significant difference between treatment and control groups for decorin and lumican mRNA expression in all time points (figure 3.10 & 3.11).

3.4 Discussion

Treatment with mesenchymal stem cells has demonstrated promising results in many organs and pathological conditions, and much enthusiasm is present in the literature regarding their beneficial roles. They are thought to possess a wide range of immunomodulatory effects, to promote tissue healing and regeneration, prevention of apoptosis, in addition to angiogenesis enhancement^{14,15}. They have been also shown to exert an inhibitory effect on many inflammatory markers, including TNF α , IFN α/γ , TGF β , in addition to secreting anti-inflammatory cytokines, including IL-10^{9,10}.

MSCs are recruited to injured and inflamed organs with positive outcomes in many studies^{9,16,17}. In a model of lung injury, umbilical MSCs were found in lung tissue, and resulted in significant reduction in TGF β , IFN γ and TNF α^9 . Furthermore, in a model of murine myocardial infarction, local injection of MSCs resulted in improved left ventricular function¹⁷. In the urinary bladder, MSCs administration resulted in better bladder wall compliance and hypoxic state after 4 weeks in a mouse model of pBOO¹⁶. These cells are known to exhibit several chemokine receptors (CCRs, CXCRs) which are involved in immune cells recruitment to sites of inflammation, including CCR6, CCR9, CXCR3, CXCR6¹⁸. Presence of such receptors on MSCs is probably what enhances their recruitment to inflamed areas. In this current experiment, injected MSCs were found in bladder tissue in all treatment group samples (figure 3.1).

TGF β is a protein that is involved extensively in cellular growth and ECM proliferation, and has been previously documented to increase after pBOO^{1,19}. It is

known to promote fibronectin and collagen fibrils production by fibroblasts, with a stimulatory effect over TIMPs, promoting collagen deposition and fibrosis²⁰. In the urinary bladder, it was seen that treating human bladders with TGF β in vitro resulted in smooth muscle hypertrophy and collagen deposition²¹, while TGF β type 2 receptor knockout mice had less SMC hypertrophy and fibrosis after pBOO²². Here in this study, TGF β mRNA expression was observed to be significantly elevated in response to pBOO after 14 days. Treatment with MSCs resulted in a lower magnitude of increase, which despite not reaching statistical significance (p-value 0.059) suggests a potential beneficial role on TGF β levels after pBOO that could be detected with increased sample size.

Bladder wall hypoxia is a documented problem after pBOO, which is thought to be responsible for many of its pathological sequelae^{1,16}. It is evident in this current study with the increase in HIF1 α level after 14 days of pBOO. Treatment with MSCs was successful in reducing HIF1 α level, indicating less bladder wall hypoxia (0.37±0.18 vs. 4.4±0.98 fold, p-value 0.015). This observation could be explained by that MSCs are known to secrete VEGF and BFGF, which are involved in inducing angiogenesis, and hence, providing better perfusion to injured organs^{11,12}.

Mechanical strain, in addition to hypoxia, are known to activate RhoA/ROCK pathway in many studies^{23,24}. RhoA level was observed to be significantly increased after 2 weeks of pBOO in control animals in this current work. RhoA activation is known to increase bladder contractility through Ca⁺⁺ sensitization adding further mechanical strain and stretch to bladder wall after

 $pBOO^{25-27}$. Furthermore, it has been observed to interfere with eNOS in vascular endothelium, adding even more hypoxia²⁸. Our treated animals exhibited significantly lower RhoA mRNA expression compared to control group after 14 days of pBOO (0.45±0.2 vs. 1.9±0.15 fold, p-value <0.01), and hence, better control of bladder wall contractility. Interfering with RhoA pathway might result in more eNOS availability, reducing hypoxic strain on bladder wall, adding more beneficial outcomes in terms of bladder wall hypoxia.

Proteomic analysis of bladder tissue after pBOO in our previous experiment showed the presence of endoplasmic reticulum stress response after 2 weeks of pBOO, evident by the increase in GRP78 protein level. GRP78 is a molecular chaperon in the ER that is involved in proper protein folding²⁹. Cellular stress is known to induce an accumulation of unfolded and misfolded proteins in the lumen of endoplasmic reticulum, and if repair is not feasible, cells were observed to proceed to apoptosis^{29,30}. In this experiment, GRP78 mRNA was observed to increase after 14 days of pBOO, and treatment with MSCs resulted in a significantly lower GRP78 mRNA expression (0.83±0.12 vs. 2.57±0.6, p-value 0.049). The reduction in GRP78 seen after treatment confirms MSCs role in reducing cellular stress, and their inhibitory effect on apoptosis seen in other studies^{14,15}.

The negative outcomes in mRNA expressions of decorin and lumican seen in this study both in treatment and control group might be related to duration of obstruction. We have demonstrated previously that pBOO induced downregulation of decorin mRNA; however this was seen after 4 weeks of

pBOO³¹. ECM remodeling seems to be a later response to inflammation in the bladder wall, and further time points are needed to examine whether MSCs have a role or not in this aspect of the pathology.

3.5 Conclusion

pBOO resulted in a significant activation of many inflammatory and hypoxic pathways. TGF β activation is seen which leads to ECM proliferation and collagen deposition. Stimulation of RhoA/ROCK pathway is evident, increasing bladder smooth muscles contractility and possibly interfering with nitric oxide metabolism adding more hypoxic injury. HIF1 α is elevated after pBOO confirming hypoxia as a pathological factor. ERS and cellular apoptosis are induced by pBOO as well. Treatment with MSCs resulted in lower mRNA expression of hypoxic, inflammatory, and cellular stress markers after pBOO. Figure 3.12 summarizes changes in mRNA expression of major studied genes in unobstructed, 14 days control and 14 days treatment groups. These improvements are reflected on bladder function, where treated animals had normal bladder capacity up to 14 days. More time points are needed to examine the role of treatment with MSCs on remaining aspects of bladder function, mainly intravesical pressure and bladder wall compliance.

3.6 Figures

Figure 3.1 Fluorescence microscopy images showing GFP-expressing MSCs in bladder tissue of 14 days treatment group.



Figure 3.2 Bladder weight changes over the time course of the experiment in



control and treatment groups.

p-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed. Error bars represent standard error around the mean.

Figure 3.3 Bladder capacity changes over the time course of the experiment in control and treatment groups.



p-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed.

* *p*-value < 0.05 in treatment vs. control groups. Error bars represent standard error around the mean **Figure 3.4** Leak point pressure changes over the time course of the experiment in control and treatment groups.



Error bars represent standard error around the mean

Figure 3.5 Bladder compliance changes over the time course of the experiment in control and treatment groups.



Error bars represent standard error around the mean

Figure 3.6 TGF β 1 mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.



p-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed. Error bars represent standard error around the mean

Figure 3.7 HIF1α mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.



p-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed.
* p-value < 0.05 in treatment vs. control groups.
Error bars represent standard error around the mean

Figure 3.8 RhoA mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.



[#] p-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed.

* p-value < 0.05 in treatment vs. control groups. Error bars represent standard error around the mean



Figure 3.9 Marker of ER stress (GRP78) mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.

* p-value < 0.05 in treatment vs. control groups. Error bars represent standard error around the mean



Figure 3.10 Lumican mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.

Error bars represent standard error around the mean



Figure 3.11 Decorin mRNA expression in control and treatment groups.

Error bars represent standard error around the mean

Figure 3.12 Summary of mRNA expression of some examined genes in unobstructed & after 14 days of pBOO in control and treatment groups.



p-value < 0.05 vs. unobstructed.
* p-value < 0.05 in treatment vs. control groups.
Error bars represent standard error around the mean

3.7 Endnotes

A version of this chapter has been submitted for publication.

3.8 References

- Metcalfe PD, Wang J, Jiao H, Huang Y, Hori K, Moore RB, Tredget EE. Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. *BJU International*. 2010;106(11):1686–1694.
- Yuan X, Wu S, Lin T, He D, Li X, Liu S, Li L, Wei G. Role of nitric oxide synthase in bladder pathologic remodeling and dysfunction resulting from partial outlet obstruction. *Urology*. 2011;77(4):1008.e1–8.
- Moisey CU, Stephenson TP, Brendler CB. The urodynamic and subjective results of treatment of detrusor instability with oxybutynin chloride. *British journal of urology*. 1980;52(6):472–475.
- Boberg L, Poljakovic M, Rahman A, Eccles R, Arner A. Role of Rho-kinase and protein kinase C during contraction of hypertrophic detrusor in mice with partial urinary bladder outlet obstruction. *BJU International*. 2012;109(1):132–140.
- Sawada N, Yao J, Hiramatsu N, Hayakawa K, Araki I, Takeda M, Kitamura M. Involvement of hypoxia-triggered endoplasmic reticulum stress in outlet obstruction-induced apoptosis in the urinary bladder. *Laboratory investigation; a journal of technical methods* and pathology. 2008;88(5):553–563.
- Ortiz LA, Gambelli F, McBride C, Gaupp D, Baddoo M, Kaminski
 N, Phinney DG. Mesenchymal stem cell engraftment in lung is enhanced in response to bleomycin exposure and ameliorates its

fibrotic effects. PNAS. 2003:1-5.

- 7. Williams AR, Suncion VY, McCall F, Guerra D, Mather J, Zambrano JP, Heldman AW, Hare JM. Durable scar size reduction due to allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell therapy regulates whole-chamber remodeling. *Journal of the American Heart Association*. 2013;2(3):e000140.
- 8. Reinders MEJ, de Fijter JW, Roelofs H, Bajema IM, de Vries DK, Schaapherder AF, Claas FHJ, van Miert PPMC, Roelen DL, van Kooten C, Fibbe WE, Rabelink TJ. Autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of allograft rejection after renal transplantation: results of a phase I study. *Stem cells translational medicine*. 2013;2(2):107–111.
- Moodley Y, Atienza D, Manuelpillai U, Samuel CS, Tchongue J, Ilancheran S, Boyd R, Trounson A. Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells Reduce Fibrosis of Bleomycin-Induced Lung Injury. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 2009;175(1):303– 313.
- Caplan AI. Adult mesenchymal stem cells for tissue engineering versus regenerative medicine. *Journal of cellular physiology*. 2007;213(2):341–347.
- Kinnaird T, Stabile E, Burnett MS, Shou M, Lee CW, Barr S, Fuchs
 S, Epstein SE. Local delivery of marrow-derived stromal cells
 augments collateral perfusion through paracrine mechanisms.

Circulation. 2004;109(12):1543–1549.

- Weil BR, Markel TA, Herrmann JL, Abarbanell AM, Meldrum DR. Mesenchymal stem cells enhance the viability and proliferation of human fetal intestinal epithelial cells following hypoxic injury via paracrine mechanisms. *Surgery*. 2009;146(2):190–197.
- Sutherland RS, Baskin LS, Kogan BA, Cunha G. Neuroanatomical changes in the rat bladder after bladder outlet obstruction. *British journal of urology*. 1998;82(6):895–901.
- Abdel Aziz MT, Atta HM, Mahfouz S, Fouad HH, Roshdy NK,
 Ahmed HH, Rashed LA, Sabry D, Hassouna AA, Hasan NM.
 Therapeutic potential of bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem
 cells on experimental liver fibrosis. *Clinical biochemistry*.
 2007;40(12):893–899.
- 15. Zhao D-C, Lei J-X, Chen R, Yu W-H, Zhang X-M, Li S-N, Xiang P.
 Bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stem cells protect against experimental liver fibrosis in rats. *World journal of gastroenterology*: *WJG*. 2005;11(22):3431–3440.
- 16. Woo LL, Tanaka ST, Anumanthan G, Pope JC IV, Thomas JC,
 Adams MC, Brock JW III, Bhowmick NA. Mesenchymal Stem Cell
 Recruitment and Improved Bladder Function After Bladder Outlet
 Obstruction: Preliminary Data. JURO. 2011;185(3):1132–1138.
- 17. Dai W, Hale SL, Martin BJ, Kuang J-Q, Dow JS, Wold LE, KlonerRA. Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cell transplantation in

postinfarcted rat myocardium: short- and long-term effects. *Circulation*. 2005;112(2):214–223.

- Chamberlain G, Wright K, Rot A, Ashton B, Middleton J. Murine mesenchymal stem cells exhibit a restricted repertoire of functional chemokine receptors: comparison with human. *PloS one*. 2008;3(8):e2934.
- Battegay EJ, Raines EW, Seifert RA, Bowen-Pope DF, Ross R. TGFbeta induces bimodal proliferation of connective tissue cells via complex control of an autocrine PDGF loop. *Cell*. 1990;63(3):515– 524.
- Sharma K, Ziyadeh FN. The emerging role of transforming growth factor-beta in kidney diseases. *The American journal of physiology*. 1994;266(6 Pt 2):F829–42.
- 21. Howard P, KUCICH U, Coplen D. Transforming growth factorbeta1-induced hypertrophy and matrix expression in human bladder smooth muscle cells. *Urology*. 2005.
- Anumanthan G, Tanaka ST, Adams CM, Thomas JC, Wills ML, Adams MC, Hayward SW, Matusik RJ, Bhowmick NA, Brock JW, Pope JC. Bladder Stromal Loss of Transforming Growth Factor Receptor II Decreases Fibrosis After Bladder Obstruction. *JURO*. 2009;182(S):1775–1780.
- 23. Wang Z, Jin N, Ganguli S, Swartz DR, Li L, Rhoades RA. Rhokinase activation is involved in hypoxia-induced pulmonary

vasoconstriction. *American journal of respiratory cell and molecular biology*. 2001;25(5):628–635.

- 24. Schiffrin EL, Touyz RM. From bedside to bench to bedside: role of renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system in remodeling of resistance arteries in hypertension. *American journal of physiology. Heart and circulatory physiology*. 2004;287(2):H435–46.
- Hong SK, Yang JH, Kim TB, Kim SW, Paick J-S. Effects of ovariectomy and oestrogen replacement on the function and expression of Rho-kinase in rat bladder smooth muscle. *BJU International*. 2006;98(5):1114–1117.
- Bing W, Chang S, Hypolite JA, DiSanto ME, Zderic SA, Rolf L, Wein AJ, Chacko S. Obstruction-induced changes in urinary bladder smooth muscle contractility: a role for Rho kinase. *American journal* of physiology. Renal physiology. 2003;285(5):F990–7.
- Somlyo AP, Somlyo AV. Signal transduction by G-proteins, rhokinase and protein phosphatase to smooth muscle and non-muscle myosin II. *The Journal of physiology*. 2000;522 Pt 2:177–185.
- 28. Ming X-F, Viswambharan H, Barandier C, Ruffieux J, Kaibuchi K, Rusconi S, Yang Z. Rho GTPase/Rho kinase negatively regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation through the inhibition of protein kinase B/Akt in human endothelial cells. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2002;22(24):8467–8477.
- 29. Brooks DA. Introduction: molecular chaperones of the ER: their role

in protein folding and genetic disease. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*. 1999;10(5):441–442.

- 30. Xu C, Bailly-Maitre B, Reed JC. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2005;115(10):2656–2664.
- Maciejewski CC, Honardoust D, Tredget EE, Metcalfe PD.
 Differential expression of class I small leucine-rich proteoglycans in an animal model of partial bladder outlet obstruction. *The Journal of Urology*. 2012;188(4 Suppl):1543–1548.

Chapter 4

Conclusion and Future Directions

pBOO remains to be an important problem in modern urological practice. The presence of obstruction forces the bladder to generate more pressure for proper voiding, leading to a sequence of bladder wall inflammation, hypoxia, and eventually fibrosis with its deleterious outcomes on patients' lives.

Here in this current work, we tried to understand the early changes in bladder wall protein composites, to identify early changes that might be a "trigger" to later pathological consequences on the molecular and functional level. Utilizing mass spectrometry based analysis we described the early changes in the proteome of urinary bladder after pBOO. Some results came to support our previous work, such as with decorin reduction, and we described some new proteins and pathways that are activated after pBOO, which added to our understanding of the pathology.

Our proteomic analysis demonstrated a significant role for GRP78 and ERS, RhoA, TGF β , and SLRPs in the pathology of pBOO. This shows the interplay of mechanical stretch, hypoxia, and inflammation in inducing the pathological changes observed.

ERS after pBOO, evident by the increase of GRP78, results in a sequence of initial corrective measures that help in protein homeostasis and proper protein folding; however, if this stress persists, this pathway triggers intracellular apoptotic signals, leading to the loss of cellular population ^{1 2}. Cellular loss has been observed in a previous work in our laboratory, where after prolonged

duration of obstruction, cells are replaced by collagen, denoting the "fibrotic phase" of pBOO³.

Bladder wall hypoxia is thought to be a major mechanism of injury after pBOO ³. Here we confirmed the presence of hypoxia in the early phase after pBOO by detecting high levels of HIF1 α .

Transforming protein RhoA was seen to increase as well after pBOO. This increase activates a sequence of cellular pathways and mechanisms, and thought to result in increased bladder smooth muscle contractility (i.e. bladder instability) adding more pressure inside the bladder wall ⁴⁻⁶. Furthermore, RhoA is though to interfere with eNOS, leading to reduction in bladder wall perfusion and augmentation of hypoxia ⁷.

TGFβ is seen to increase after pBOO confirming our previous findings ³. Its activation results in an increase in ECM proliferation and collagen deposition, promoting bladder fibrosis ⁸. It also interferes with ECM proteoglycans, promoting irregular collagen fibrils organization ⁹.

The second experiment in this thesis involved the administration of MSCs after pBOO. This resulted in several important physiological and biomedical benefits. MSCs are known to exert many immunomodulatory and therapeutic effects, and have been studied in many animal models of injury with promising positive results ^{10,11}. In our model of pBOO, treated animals exhibited lower ERS marker expression, which might results in a decreased rate of cellular apoptosis. Less RhoA levels were detected, suggesting better control of muscle contractility. Angiogenesis induced by MSCs is a possible mechanism for the reduced bladder

wall hypoxia observed with lower HIF1 α . Despite not reaching statistical significance, the reduction in TGF β mean mRNA expression in treated animals suggests a positive outcome, and might need higher sample size to detect. These changes on the molecular level were translated on bladder function. Despite the limited effect on urodynamics seen, which is most likely due the short duration of the study, we observed maintenance of bladder capacity around normal levels in treated group, compared to significant increase in the control group after 14 days of pBOO.

Further research is needed to delineate more changes on bladder functionality. We can look to the presented work here as a "proof of concept" that MSCs can actually halt the pathological changes after pBOO. Longer duration of follow up is needed to detect further benefits of MSCs treatment on the progression to bladder fibrosis.

Linking our proteomic findings to the genomics and transcriptomics of pBOO will be a valuable addition to our knowledge, and a future direction to pursue. This would help properly understand the whole spectrum of changes that pBOO induces on cells and their regulation of transcription to translation.

4.1 References

- Brooks DA. Introduction: molecular chaperones of the ER: their role in protein folding and genetic disease. *Seminars in cell & developmental biology*. 1999;10(5):441–442.
- Xu C, Bailly-Maitre B, Reed JC. Endoplasmic reticulum stress: cell life and death decisions. *The Journal of clinical investigation*. 2005;115(10):2656–2664.
- Metcalfe PD, Wang J, Jiao H, Huang Y, Hori K, Moore RB, Tredget EE.
 Bladder outlet obstruction: progression from inflammation to fibrosis. *BJU International*. 2010;106(11):1686–1694.
- 4. Hong SK, Yang JH, Kim TB, Kim SW, Paick J-S. Effects of ovariectomy and oestrogen replacement on the function and expression of Rho-kinase in rat bladder smooth muscle. *BJU International*. 2006;98(5):1114–1117.
- Bing W, Chang S, Hypolite JA, DiSanto ME, Zderic SA, Rolf L, Wein AJ, Chacko S. Obstruction-induced changes in urinary bladder smooth muscle contractility: a role for Rho kinase. *American journal of physiology. Renal physiology*. 2003;285(5):F990–7.
- Somlyo AP, Somlyo AV. Signal transduction by G-proteins, rho-kinase and protein phosphatase to smooth muscle and non-muscle myosin II. *The Journal of physiology*. 2000;522 Pt 2:177–185.
- Ming X-F, Viswambharan H, Barandier C, Ruffieux J, Kaibuchi K, Rusconi S, Yang Z. Rho GTPase/Rho kinase negatively regulates endothelial nitric oxide synthase phosphorylation through the inhibition of

protein kinase B/Akt in human endothelial cells. *Molecular and cellular biology*. 2002;22(24):8467–8477.

- Sharma K, Ziyadeh FN. The emerging role of transforming growth factorbeta in kidney diseases. *The American journal of physiology*. 1994;266(6 Pt 2):F829–42.
- Kalamajski S, Aspberg A, Oldberg A. The decorin sequence SYIRIADTNIT binds collagen type I. *THE JOURNAL OF BIOLOGICAL CHEMISTRY*. 2007;282(22):16062–16067.
- Moodley Y, Atienza D, Manuelpillai U, Samuel CS, Tchongue J, Ilancheran S, Boyd R, Trounson A. Human Umbilical Cord Mesenchymal Stem Cells Reduce Fibrosis of Bleomycin-Induced Lung Injury. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 2009;175(1):303–313.
- Reinders MEJ, de Fijter JW, Roelofs H, Bajema IM, de Vries DK, Schaapherder AF, Claas FHJ, van Miert PPMC, Roelen DL, van Kooten C, Fibbe WE, Rabelink TJ. Autologous bone marrow-derived mesenchymal stromal cells for the treatment of allograft rejection after renal transplantation: results of a phase I study. *Stem cells translational medicine*. 2013;2(2):107–111.